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Highlights

Financial highlights1

Revenue
£344.0 million

2007
2006

£323.6 million

Group headline operating profit2
£24.5 million

2007
2006

£19.2 million

Group operating profit
£18.7 million

2007
2006

£11.9 million

Headline profit before tax2
£27.0 million

2007
2006

£12.1 million

Profit before tax
£21.2 million

2007
2006

£4.8 million

Basic earnings per share
2007
2006

7.4 pence
1.2 pence

Basic earnings per share
for continuing and discontinued group
2007
2006

102.1 pence
14.7 pence

Full year dividend
2007
2006

1
2

6.75 pence per share
6.0 pence per share

Continuing operations only unless otherwise stated
Before exceptional costs, exceptional income and intangible asset amortisation other than computer software
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Highlights continued

In line with our stated
objectives, we returned £220
million of capital to shareholders
in August. Together with
dividends this means we have
returned to shareholders 95% of
the equity raised since Melrose’s
inception in 2003.

“

“

CHRISTOPHER MILLER, EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

DAVID ROPER, CHIEF EXECUTIVE

”

I am very pleased with the
results of the Group in 2007.
Our strong financial condition
and solid trading performance
position us well to take
advantage of the current market
conditions to pursue acquisition
opportunities.

“

Since the acquisition of the
Dynacast and McKechnie
businesses the profit conversion
to cash for the continuing Group
has averaged 94%.

GEOFFREY MARTIN, GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR

”

■

Disposal of McKechnie Aerospace and PSM
at a profit of over £190 million

■

Return of £220 million to shareholders
on 31 August 2007

■

2007 Proforma earnings per share1 of 14.3p

■

Net cash of £32.4 million
(2006: net debt of £162.6 million)

1

Defined in section “Earnings per Share and Number of Shares in Issue” of the Finance Director’s review

02 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007
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Melrose at a glance

The Melrose businesses
Dynacast
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating profit (£m)
Average number of employees

2007

235.9
28.9
2,394

McKechnie Vehicle
Components (MVC)

McKechnie Plastic
Components (MPC)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating profit (£m)
Average number of employees

2007

55.4
(0.5)
488

2007

52.7
3.9
594

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating profit (£m)
Average number of employees

Business units
Dynacast North America
Dynacast Europe
Dynacast Asia Pacific

Business units
MVC Newberry, MVC Nicholasville,
MVC Troy and
McKechnie Tool and Engineering

Business units
MPC Pickering, MPC Stamford Bridge,
Canning Brett and Prelok

Business description
Global design and manufacture
of die-cast metal components

Business description
Design and manufacture of decorative
exterior wheel trim products for the
US automotive industry

Business description
Design and manufacture of engineered and
injection moulded plastic components, industrial
metal fasteners and application of treatment for
locking and sealing of threaded components

Key strengths
■ Precision engineered die-cast zinc, aluminium
and magnesium alloy components
■ Full service capability
■ Concept and design engineering
■ Rapid prototyping
■ Machine building capability

Key strengths
■ Manufacture of coated metal and plastic
wheel trim products
■ Stamping in stainless steel for aluminium
wheel market
■ Design and development capability
■ Focus on products which require technical
expertise

Key strengths
■ In-house design and tool-making facilities
■ Leading edge technical development
■ Secondary operation capability including
painting, printing, welding and packaging
■ Bespoke product testing

Sectors served
Computing, consumer electronics,
healthcare, automotive, hardware, tooling
and telecommunications

Sectors served
US automotive industry

Sectors served
Automotive, consumer packaging,
IT hardware, lifestyle, telecommunications,
electronics and general engineering

Major customers and products
Apple – iPod components,
Motorola – phone and radio components,
Procter & Gamble – Gillette razor handles,
Sony – digital camera decorative components,
Valeo – automotive trim and housings,
Autoliv – automotive components,
Avago – fibre optic connectors

Major customers
Daimler-Chrysler, Ford, Toyota, Mitsubishi,
Nissan, General Motors

Major customers and products
Land Rover, Aston Martin, Jaguar and Honda –
automotive trim, Makita – power tool housing,
Marks & Spencer – food packaging containers,
Diageo and Scotco – widgets,
Wavin – pipe seals, CMP – battery seals,
Finnveden, Fiat, MAVIC and Schneider –
pre-coated fastener applications (Prelok)

Operations across the globe

Austria
Canada
China
France
Germany
India
Italy
Korea
Malaysia
Mexico
Singapore
Slovenia
Spain
UK
USA
Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007 03
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Chairman’s statement

2007 was a very busy year
in which much was achieved.
In May we sold McKechnie
Aerospace for £428 million and
PSM for £30 million realising
a combined profit of over
£190 million in the two years
since acquisition.
CHRISTOPHER MILLER EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

I am pleased to report Melrose’s fifth set of annual results since
flotation in October 2003.
Results for the continuing group
Following the sale of McKechnie Aerospace and Aerospace
Aftermarket divisions (“McKechnie Aerospace”) and the majority
of our PSM division (“PSM”) (together the “Disposals”), these
accounts report the results of our businesses for the twelve months
to 31 December 2007 and the relevant comparatives for the previous
year. They take into account the effect of the return of capital and
share consolidation during August 2007.
Revenue for the year was £344.0 million (2006: £323.6 million).
Headline profit before tax (before exceptional costs, exceptional
income and intangible asset amortisation other than computer
software) was £27.0 million (2006: £12.1 million).
After these items the profit before tax was £21.2 million (2006:
£4.8 million) and basic earnings per share were 7.4p (2006: 1.2p)
Further explanation of these results is provided in the Finance
Director’s review.
Our businesses and their employees have worked very hard to
produce these good results and I thank them on behalf of our
shareholders.

04 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007
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Return of capital to shareholders
We return capital to shareholders as and when value has been
created and realised. We are pleased to have been able to give
an effective demonstration of this during 2007.

95%
2007 was a very busy year in which much was achieved. In May we
sold McKechnie Aerospace for £428 million and PSM for £30 million
realising a combined profit of over £190 million in the two years since
acquisition. In line with our stated objectives, we returned £220
million of capital to shareholders in August. Together with dividends
this means we have returned to shareholders 95% of the equity
raised since Melrose’s inception in 2003. At the same time as the
return of capital shares in issue were reduced by means of a share
consolidation. Notwithstanding this repayment of capital, Melrose had
year end net cash of £32.4 million, compared with net debt of
£162.6 million at the end of last year.
In such an active year it would be easy to overlook the strong
performances of our continuing businesses. All three divisions have
bettered their results of last year, and although MVC continues to
trade in a very difficult market place in the USA, we are optimistic that
this overall improvement will continue into 2008. Cash generation
remains very strong.
David Roper reports in more detail on each of our businesses in his
Chief Executive’s review.

of the original
subscribed capital

Strategy and outlook
Our model is to acquire businesses which we understand and which
are capable of substantial improvement under our ownership. It is an
important part of this model that we return capital to shareholders as
and when value has been created and realised. We are pleased to
have been able to give an effective demonstration of this during 2007.
I said last September that we were well placed to pursue suitable
acquisitions and that market conditions were potentially aiding us
in this respect. That continues to be the case and we are optimistic
of concluding one or more acquisitions in the next twelve months
which will give us the opportunity for substantial further growth
and profitability.

CHRISTOPHER MILLER
5 MARCH 2008

Dividends
The Board intends to propose a final dividend of 4.25p per share
(together with an interim dividend of 2.5p per share paid on
16 November 2007, a total of 6.75p per share) (2006: 6.0p
per share) at the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2008. The
dividend is payable on 16 May 2008 to shareholders on the register
at 14 March 2008.
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Chief Executive’s review

Having successfully sold
businesses and returned capital
to our shareholders, we have been
able to show how our business
model works in practice.
DAVID ROPER CHIEF EXECUTIVE

I am very pleased with the results of the Group in 2007. A lot
happened during the year and the make-up of the Group is markedly
different from this time last year.
The sale of the McKechnie Aerospace division and PSM in May,
resulting in a profit to Melrose of over £190 million after only two
years in our ownership, was very gratifying. This enabled us to return
£220 million to shareholders in August. This means that shareholders
have received by way of distribution or return of capital 95% of the
equity capital raised since Melrose floated in October 2003.
In addition, the trading result for the Group in 2007 was good. I set
out below the reports on the divisions and would mention the
following highlights:

06 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007

■

At Dynacast a major investment programme in South China is
underway to take advantage of the continuing strong trading
conditions in the Far East. Having completed the restructuring of its
operational base and turned its attention to bolt-on acquisitions, it is
pleasing to report that Dynacast has successfully completed two
such acquisitions in the second half of the year – the search
continues for more.

■

At MVC, although market conditions remain extremely challenging,
operational improvements continue to be made and the new
chrome plating line was successfully introduced, which assisted the
launch of MVC’s new plasticlad product.

■

At MPC the benefits of operational restructuring and of focusing on
higher margin value added products are coming through well. New
product introductions, supported by targeted capital investment,
were notable achievements.

08_1022_Melrose_R&A:12736_Melrose_RA

27/3/08

19:41

Page 07

Outlook
Dynacast continues to show the quality of its business franchise by
reporting increased profits and margins, even in the face of large raw
material price rises. In addition to its active ongoing capital investment
programme, particularly in the Far East, the company is looking to
make further value-enhancing bolt-on acquisitions.
At both MVC and MPC the strategy is to exploit the high level of
technical engineering and design expertise in the businesses,
supported by bold but highly focused capital investment, to deliver
improved returns.
As Chris Miller says in his Chairman’s statement, having successfully
sold businesses and returned capital to our shareholders, we have
been able to show how our business model works in practice. Our
strong financial condition and solid trading performance position us
well to take advantage of the current market conditions to pursue
acquisition opportunities.
I am most encouraged by the trading performance of the Group
and I look forward to further achievements in the year ahead.

DAVID ROPER
5 MARCH 2008

Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007 07
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Business Review
Dynacast
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating profit (£m)

2007

2006

235.9
28.9

221.7
25.1

Dynacast revenue by geographic area (%)

EUROPE 43%
NORTH AMERICA 33%
ASIA 24%

Dynacast revenue by sector (%)
AUTOMOTIVE 40%
ELECTRONICS, COMPUTERS
& TELECOMS 26%
HEALTHCARE 11%
HARDWARE & TOOLING

7%

Dynacast is a global manufacturer of precision engineered, die-cast
metal components and assemblies. The products are manufactured
using proprietary die-casting technology and are supplied to a wide
range of end markets, including automotive, healthcare,
telecommunications, consumer electronics and computer hardware
and peripherals.
Dynacast performed well in 2007. Revenue and headline operating
profit were up by 6.4% and 15.1% respectively over the previous year.
These results are after suffering an exchange loss on translation
(resulting from the weakness of the US dollar) of £0.5 million and
exchange losses on transactions (primarily as a result of the increased
strength of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar) of £1 million.
Whereas Dynacast’s 2006 headline operating profit was adversely
impacted by approximately £3 million because of the non-recovery of
zinc cost (the company’s major raw material), management’s actions
in the second half of 2006 in aligning movements in zinc input prices
with selling prices to customers have to a large degree removed the
effect of movements in the price of zinc from headline operating profit.

OTHERS 16%

Europe was ahead of expectations, buoyed generally by favourable
economic and trading conditions in its markets. In particular, Germany,
Austria and Spain performed strongly and finished ahead of target. We
were pleased with the recovery of Dynacast France after having
transferred some of its less profitable work to lower cost countries.
2007 was the first full year of running the Gillette “Fusion” product,

Quality and durability
are key requirements
Dynacast manufactures
decorative components
for consumer electronics
products, including digital
cameras, MP3 players and
mobile phones. Here is an
example of a hinge which is
manufactured for the
Motorola “Razr” mobile
phone range.

08 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007
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produced in a purpose-built factory in Austria, and volumes were in
line with original predictions.
Performance in North America was reasonable, both at the revenue
and headline operating profit level. Market conditions in this region are
more difficult at present than in both Europe and Asia, largely due to a
higher proportion of sales to the automotive sector. It was encouraging
to see in the early part of the year, the operational benefits from the
closure of the Spartanburg factory in South Carolina. Of special note is
the continuing robust sales of handles for the “Mach III” Gillette razor,
which has been produced in our factory in Montreal for ten years.
In Asia, trading continued to be buoyant with Dynacast China leading
the way with revenue and headline operating profit up 46.9% and
59.7% respectively over the previous year. Singapore performed
particularly well in winning new sales to replace products that reached
their “end-of-life” earlier in the year. In view of the continuing strong
demand in the region, a capital expenditure project has been
approved to invest approximately £4 million over the next four years
in a new manufacturing facility in Southern China.
When Melrose acquired Dynacast in May 2005 we embarked upon a
restructuring programme to align Dynacast’s manufacturing sites with
its customer base, which itself was continuing to migrate production
to lower cost countries. This phase is now complete and we have
seen Dynacast’s return on sales (on a constant zinc and currency
basis) improve significantly since acquisition to 14.8%. Following this

in order to further develop the business and generate additional
revenue growth, Dynacast is now focusing on add-on acquisition
opportunities. The market that Dynacast operates in is very
fragmented and affords considerable consolidation opportunities.
Two businesses, QZD and Techmire (both based in Montreal,
Canada), were acquired in September 2007 for a total cost of
£8.7 million. QZD, a precision zinc die-casting business, has been
successfully integrated into Dynacast’s Montreal factory. Techmire
is a designer and manufacturer of multiple-slide die-casting machines
and will be operated as a stand-alone business. Techmire’s overheads
have already been significantly reduced and a new site has been
found close to the existing Dynacast site to rehouse the production
facilities. Both acquisitions are expected to improve the profitability
of Dynacast’s operations.
Management are continuing to look for suitable acquisition
opportunities (including Eastern Europe) and to invest heavily in the
fast growing Far East markets, while maintaining their focus on
achieving the highest levels of operating efficiency in the business.
Dynacast benefits from a strong market share, a well diversified
geographic and product sector exposure, and excellent cash
generation qualities. We are confident that management will deliver
another strong set of results in 2008.

High quality
precision
mouldings
Dynacast supplies high quality housings
for Avago, a leading manufacturer of high
technology fibre optic connectors for the
transfer of electronic data.

Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007 09

08_1022_Melrose_R&A:12736_Melrose_RA

28/3/08

15:48

Page 10

Business Review continued
McKechnie Vehicle Components (MVC)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating loss (£m)

2007

2006

55.4
(0.5)

48.0
(2.3)

MVC manufactures decorated exterior trim products for the US
automotive industry, principally coated metal and plastic wheel
products.
Although MVC reported substantially improved results in 2007 over
2006, it is disappointing that the company did not reach breakeven.
MVC’s new products in 2007 were targeted towards the smaller
crossover vehicles rather than the SUVs and pick-up trucks, which
provided it with growth in a difficult marketplace. Unfortunately the
benefits of this growth have been reduced principally by higher raw
material costs. Whilst considerable progress was made by MVC
management to recover these raw material costs in 2007, a
combination of the growth in output and the size of the increases
resulted in higher overall costs. Improved levels of recovery negotiated
during the latter part of 2007 and the fall in raw material costs back
toward the prices at the beginning of 2007 should help to continue
with the progress of this business towards a more satisfactory result.
A key challenge for MVC management during 2008 will be addressing
the profitability of a number of legacy products.

£

7.5m

Investment in chrome plating
line at Nicholasville Plant

Advanced design techniques
MVC manufactures plastic
wheel claddings for the new
Pontiac Vibe, produced by
New United Motor
Manufacturing Inc., a joint
venture between Toyota and
General Motors.
This is Toyota’s first plasti-clad
and is manufactured at MVC’s
Nicholasville plant using the
new chrome plating line.

10 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007

The highlight of the year was the successful introduction in
September of the new chrome plating line at our Nicholasville plant.
This was critical in enabling MVC to meet the high level of contracted
orders from customers for the new plasticlad product. In addition,
significant improvements have been made in the wheel assembly
process at Nicholasville which bode well for the forthcoming new
product launches in 2008.
Our Newberry plant continues to deliver a good performance. It
coped well with the transfer of the duraclad assembly line from
Nicholasville, which improved capacity utilisation, and has flexed its
operational cost base well to match demand.
The operational improvement in 2007 has been pleasing. However,
even allowing for its good position in a niche market, conditions in the
US automotive market are tough. With constant attention to the basics
and the new plating line geared up to meet the projected demands of
the new programmes coming on stream in the second half of 2008,
we expect a continuing improvement.
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McKechnie Plastic Components (MPC)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue (£m)
Headline operating profit (£m)

2007

2006

52.7
3.9

53.9
3.0

MPC revenue by sector (%)
AUTOMOTIVE 59%
TELECOMMUNICATIONS & IT HARDWARE

3%

CONSUMER PACKAGING & LIFESTYLE 17%
GENERAL ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION 11%
OTHERS 10%

MPC is a UK producer of engineered plastic injection moulded
components for products used in a variety of industries, including
power tools, IT hardware, food and beverage packaging and
automotive. Following the sale of the fastener division of McKechnie
PSM in May 2007 the results of both the PSM Thread Locking and
Sealing business (which has been renamed Prelok) and Canning Brett
are included in this section.
MPC has delivered a strong set of results in 2007. Although the
closure of the Northampton plant in 2006 resulted in a fall in
revenue, this action had the desired effect of a more profitable
business with headline operating profit up by 30% over 2006.

The Stamford Bridge facility has had a good year as a result of its
rigorous adherence to the above strategy, supplemented by a
substantial capital expenditure programme. In addition to the
successful development of new highly automated production cells
together with process re-engineering for a number of key customers,
new long term contracts have been signed with Diageo and Scotco
for the supply of “widgets” for use in cans and bottles.
The quality of the business at MPC’s automotive operation at
Pickering has improved notably during the year – headline operating
profit has more than doubled on broadly unchanged sales. Again,
focusing on the core strategy of a targeted capital investment
programme together with emphasis on pricing discipline to recover
input costs has paid dividends.
Prelok’s results in the year were most encouraging. With production
volumes outstripping capacity in its Cologne facility, a new production
unit located in Germany became fully operational in July 2007. This
new facility, close to the Polish and Czech borders, is well positioned
to profit from new business opportunities in the burgeoning Eastern
European markets.
With a favourable start to 2008 and further opportunities in the UK
industry afforded by the demise of certain competitors, we expect
MPC to continue to build on its strong foundation and to deliver
another good performance this year.

MPC continues to focus its engineering expertise on more automated,
highly engineered, value added products and processes, whilst
building strong, long term relationships with its customers. This
strategy has enabled MPC to differentiate itself from its competitors.

Headline operating profit up

30%

over 2006

Targeted capital investment
MPC manufactures door
claddings for the Land
Rover Freelander.
Claddings are moulded
using an automated multi
shot process on a new
1,500 tonne injection
machine, the largest within
the Division. The finished product is painted and assembled ready
for fitment on the Land Rover Freelander.
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Finance Director’s review

The year to 31 December 2007 included the disposal of the
McKechnie Aerospace and PSM division. Taken together, these sold
businesses constituted 36% of Group sales and 66% of Group
headline operating profit in 2006.
Consequently the Melrose Group is now significantly smaller than in
2006, and in compliance with IFRS 5, the trading results for the Group
are split into continuing operations and discontinued operations.
Group trading results – continuing operations
The continuing operations comprise Dynacast, McKechnie Vehicle
Components (MVC) and McKechnie Plastic Components (MPC). The
latter division now includes the remaining smaller part of PSM, trading
as Prelok and Canning Brett.
To help understand the results the term “headline” has been used in
this review. This refers to numbers that are calculated before
exceptional costs, exceptional income and intangible asset
amortisation other than computer software.

Melrose places strong emphasis
on cash generation and
management. Dynacast in
particular, which now trades with
only two weeks of net working
capital, has excellent profit
conversion to cash averaging
107% during Melrose ownership.

The Group achieved revenue from continuing operations for the year
ended 31 December 2007 of £344.0 million (2006: £323.6 million)
representing an increase of £20.4 million, 6.3% over the previous
year or 9.7% at constant currency.

GEOFFREY MARTIN GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR

After exceptional costs, exceptional income and intangible asset
amortisation, the operating profit was £18.7 million (2006: £11.9 million).

Headline operating profit grew by 27.6% to £24.5 million (2006:
£19.2 million). This represents a headline operating profit return on
revenue of 7.1% (2006: 5.9%), a 1.2 percentage point increase on
the previous year.
At constant currency the profit growth in 2007 was 30.2% as a £0.5
million translation exchange loss was incurred, largely due to the
weakness of the US dollar.

Trading results by division
The improvement in the trading results has been driven by stronger
performance at each division. A split of revenue and headline
operating profit by division is as follows:

Revenue
£m

12 Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007

Headline
operating
profit
£m

Headline
operating
profit before
Return on depreciation &
sales
amortisation
%
£m

Return on
sales
%

Dynacast
235.9
MVC
55.4
MPC
52.7
Central costs
–
Central – LTIPS
–

28.9
(0.5)
3.9
(5.8)
(2.0)

12.3
(0.9)
7.4
–
–

35.7
1.4
5.5
(5.7)
(2.0)

15.1
2.5
10.4
–
–

Group

24.5

7.1

34.9

10.1

344.0
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The performance by division is discussed in more detail in the Chief
Executive’s review. The change in headline operating profit return on
revenue percentage from 2006 to 2007 is shown below.
Headline operating profit return on revenue
Group
%

Dynacast
%

MVC
%

MPC
%

2007

7.1

12.3

(0.9)

7.4

2006

5.9

11.3

(4.8)

5.6

2005
(7 mths)
£m

The increase in the continuing Group return on revenue has been
driven by an improvement in all three divisions.
Cash generation and management
Melrose places strong emphasis on cash generation and management.
This is achieved by the careful monitoring of the key cash and working
capital metrics in each division and by ensuring that divisional
management is incentivised to turn profit into cash.
Since the acquisition of the Dynacast and McKechnie businesses the
profit conversion to cash for the continuing Group has averaged 94%
(post working capital movement and capital expenditure). This high
conversion ratio has been achieved even after spending in excess of
depreciation on capital projects. Dynacast in particular, which now
trades with only two weeks of net working capital, has excellent profit
conversion to cash averaging 107% during Melrose ownership. Since
acquisition Dynacast has generated £68 million in cash after all
working capital movement, capital expenditure and restructuring costs.
The cash generation performance in 2007 is summarised as follows:
£m

Headline operating profit
Depreciation and computer software amortisation
Working capital increase
Total capital expenditure
Disposal of assets
Headline cash generated from operations
Disposal of businesses
Capital distribution paid
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Restructuring costs and spend on other provisions
Interest and tax
Pension contributions
Dividends paid
Exchange & other (including discontinued operations)
Total movement in net debt/net cash in 2007

Capital and restructuring projects
Since the acquisition of the Dynacast and the McKechnie businesses,
Melrose has spent significant amounts on capital and restructuring
projects, averaging approximately £25 million per year, equal to 1.3x
depreciation on capital projects and 0.5x depreciation on restructuring
projects. This level of expenditure demonstrates the importance the
Board place on this method of creating shareholder value. The total
expenditure on these items over the last three reporting periods has
been as below.

24.5
10.4
(2.9)
(16.0)
0.4

Capital expenditure
Restructuring projects –
cash spend
Total

2006
£m

2007
£m

Average x
£m

7.1

19.7

18.7

1.3 x

8.9

9.2

1.0

0.5 x

16.0

28.9

19.7

1.8 x

The capital expenditure in 2007 includes continued investment in the
Dynacast production facility in China; however, the most significant
item of capital expenditure in 2007 was in MVC. Over the last 15
months, MVC has invested £7.5 million on a new nickel chrome
plating line for its plasticlad wheel cover ranges. As a consequence
the book value of the old discontinued plating line has been fully
impaired. This £1.5 million non cash charge has been shown in
exceptional costs.
The new restructuring projects in 2007 relate mainly to integrating the
small acquisitions made by Dynacast.
Profit on sale of businesses
Gross proceeds from the Disposals during the year were £458.0 million
and costs charged during the period were £10.8 million. Net assets
disposed of were £233.6 million, (including goodwill and intangible
assets other than computer software of £152.5 million), and the
cumulative exchange translation movement on assets since acquisition
of £22.0 million, previously booked straight to reserves, was recycled on
disposal. As a result the profit on sale was £191.6 million.

16.4
446.7
(212.6)
(8.7)
(1.9)
(2.8)
(26.1)
(13.0)
(3.0)
195.0

During 2007 67% of headline operating profit was converted into
cash (post working capital and capital expenditure). This was despite
the exceptionally high capital spend in MVC during the year. Adjusting
for this, the profit conversion to cash was 94% in 2007, in line with
the longer term Melrose average.
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Finance Director’s review continued

Tax
The Melrose Group remains in a strong tax position. The headline tax
charge in the profit and loss account has reduced to 26% in 2007
from 28% in 2006. This is below the UK statutory rate during the
period of 30% as the Group continues to benefit from lower Far East
tax rates, balanced in part with higher North American and European
tax rates.
The headline cash tax rate of 16% for the continuing Group remains
below the profit and loss account rate but as expected the gap
between the two is narrowing. The Group has significant tax losses
available to it but due to the split of profits geographically most are
not recognised as deferred tax assets because the majority of the
losses are in the UK where insufficient profits are generated. A
summary of tax losses by geography is shown below:
Recognised
£m

Unrecognised
£m

Total
£m

UK
North America
Rest of world

–
2.6
–

138.6
6.7
18.6

138.6
9.3
18.6

Total

2.6

163.9

166.5

The Group paid no corporation tax on the profits it made on the
Disposals. This is largely a result of the Group benefiting from the
substantial shareholder exemption rules in the UK.
Return of capital and subsequent share consolidation
During August 2007, following the Disposals and in line with the
Melrose strategy to return surplus cash to shareholders, the Group
returned £220 million of capital to shareholders. Shareholders had
the option of receiving a payment either in August 2007 or deferred
until 2008. This meant that within 28 months of acquiring the
McKechnie and Dynacast businesses in May 2005, 95% of capital
raised from shareholders had been returned, and the group had
moved to a net cash position.
The capital return was made in conjunction with a 1 for 2 share
consolidation which resulted in the number of shares in issue
reducing from 267.3 million to 133.7 million. As permitted some
shareholders opted to defer the capital payment until 2008 and
therefore a £7.2 million creditor is included in the 31 December 2007
balance sheet to represent the outstanding balance on the £220
million capital repayment.

Long term incentive scheme
Melrose has an incentive scheme which rewards certain senior
management with Melrose shares as defined in the Remuneration
Report. The original scheme set up at the start of Melrose in October
2003 was due to run until May 2009. However, with the approval of
both the Remuneration Committee and Shareholders, on 14 August
2007, in conjunction with the return of capital to Shareholders, this
scheme was crystallised. This resulted in 10.2 million shares being
awarded to senior management and created a £1.9 million
crystallisation charge in the profit and loss account to recognise the
national insurance due on the value of the shares awarded and the
acceleration of the IFRS 2 charge associated with these shares. This
one off crystallisation charge has been shown in exceptional costs.
Shareholders approved a new incentive scheme on 14 August 2007
that mirrors the old scheme but has an end date extended to May
2012, and only rewards the creation of value above that which the
original scheme rewarded.
The charge to headline operating profit for the incentive scheme was
£2.0 million. This consisted of a £0.6 million charge relating to the
original Melrose scheme for the period 1 January 2007 to 14 August
2007, a £0.3 million charge for the new Melrose scheme from
14 August 2007 to 31 December 2007 and a £1.1 million charge for
a Dynacast senior management scheme.
Earnings per share and number of shares in issue
In accordance with IAS 33 two basic earnings per share numbers are
disclosed on the face of the income statement, one for continuing
operations only and one which also includes discontinued operations.
However, because a 1 for 2 share consolidation occurred part way
through the year these measures do not give a good indication of the
underlying earnings per share for the continuing Group on an ongoing
basis. The 1 for 2 share consolidation and the early crystallisation of the
original Melrose incentive scheme caused the number of shares to
change throughout the year as follows:
Number of
shares

At 1 January 2007
Crystallisation of original Melrose incentive scheme
on 14 August 2007
At 14 August 2007
1 for 2 share consolidation completed on 15 August 2007

257.1m

10.2m
267.3m
(133.6m)

At 31 December 2007

133.7m

Weighted average number of shares in the year

210.5m

The earnings per share calculation for continuing operations uses the
weighted average number of shares in existence for the whole of
2007 and not the lower number of shares in issue post the share
consolidation. This therefore understates the underlying performance
on an on going basis. Conversely the earnings per share including
discontinued operations includes the one off profit on the Disposals
in the year and therefore significantly overstates the underlying
ongoing trading performance.
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To help understand the underlying performance a calculation is detailed
below to show earnings per share of 14.3p on a proforma basis:

Assets and liabilities
The split of assets and liabilities is shown in the table below:

£m

2007 Headline operating profit
Proforma interest received(1)

24.5
1.4

Tax(2)

25.9
(6.7)
19.2

Shares in issue(3)
Proforma EPS
(1)

(2)
(3)

133.7m
14.3p

Interest income assumed at 5.7% (2007 average rate since moving to a net cash
position) on £25 million net cash (as at 31 December 2007 less remaining return of
capital of £7.4 million)
Tax at 2007 headline rate (26%)
Issued share capital after share consolidation

The fair value of net assets purchased was £4.2 million, (including
intangible assets of £1.6 million) and therefore the goodwill was
£4.5 million. These acquisitions contributed only £0.2 million to the
Dynacast headline operating profit in the year as they were not
completed until September.
Exceptional costs and income
Excluded from the headline operating profit are certain costs and
income of an exceptional nature that are considered outside the normal
course of business for the divisions. These charges are as follows:
Year ended
31 December 2007

Total exceptional cost
Exceptional income
Pension curtailment gain

31 December
2006
£m

Goodwill and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Net working capital
Net tax (liability)/asset
IAS 19 Employee Benefits (pension)
Provision and other

207.4
60.7
18.8
(12.8)
(25.2)
(13.8)

356.2
79.4
45.2
2.4
(55.4)
(10.1)

Total

235.1

417.7

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

These assets and liabilities are funded by:

Acquisitions during the year
During the year two small acquisitions were made by Dynacast for a
combined consideration of £8.7 million including £0.3 million of costs.
Both transactions were asset purchases rather than share purchases.

Exceptional cost
Dynacast restructure of acquisitions
MVC “old” nickel plater impairment
Crystallisation of original Melrose
incentive scheme

31 December
2007
£m

Cash
£m

Non cash
£m

Total
£m

1.0
–

0.5
1.5

1.5
1.5

0.8

1.1

1.9

1.8

3.1

4.9

–

1.1

1.1

The three items of exceptional cost have all been discussed previously
in this review. The total cost of these exceptional items is £4.9 million
of which £1.8 million is a cash cost. The item of exceptional income
relates to the pensions curtailment gain that arose on the sale of the
McKechnie Aerospace division.

Net (cash)/debt
Equity

(32.4)
267.5

162.6
255.1

Total

235.1

417.7

The assets and liabilities of the Group have changed significantly
during 2007. As a result of the Disposals the Group has sold
£233.6 million of assets and liabilities during the year, and moved
into a net cash position.
Impairment review
In compliance with IAS 36 the carrying value of the net assets by
division has been compared to their future cash flows discounted
at a rate reflective of their circumstances and method of funding.
This confirmed the carrying value of each division in the Group
balance sheet.
Pensions
The Group has a number of defined benefit and defined contribution
schemes in place globally.
The current market value of the assets of the defined benefit
schemes is insufficient to satisfy the liabilities to members when they
are valued on a basis consistent with IAS 19. The net accounting
deficit on the schemes was £25.2 million (2006: £55.4 million) of
which 63% (2006: 82%) was derived from the most significant
scheme in the Group, the UK McKechnie Pension Plan (the “Plan”).
This had assets at 31 December 2007 of £114.7 million (2006:
£83.0 million), liabilities of £130.7 million (2006: £128.4 million)
and therefore a deficit of £16.0 million (2006: £45.4 million).
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Finance Director’s review continued

As part of the disposal process of the McKechnie OEM division
Melrose obtained clearance from the UK Pensions Regulator for its
agreement with the Trustee of the Plan. Melrose made a cash payment
of £20.0 million to the Plan in May 2007 and agreed to pay a further
£18.3 million in equal quarterly instalments of £1.5 million over the
next three years starting in July 2007. Melrose PLC has also guaranteed
the funding of the Plan on an ongoing basis. As a consequence of this
the Company has contributed £25.8 million (2006: £5.4 million) into
the Plan in 2007, significantly more than in the previous year and the
total pension deficit in the Melrose Group has reduced by more than
half. The movement in the Plan deficit from £45.4 million in 2006 to
£16.0 million in 2007 is explained below:
£m

2006 IAS 19 deficit
Interest on liabilities
Expected return on assets
Investment outperformance
Change in key pension assumptions
Increase in life expectancy (lower mortality)
Curtailment gain
Employer contributions
Other

45.4
6.5
(6.5)
(2.3)
(8.0)
7.6
(1.1)
(25.8)
0.2

2007 IAS 19 deficit

16.0

The assumptions used to calculate the IAS 19 deficit are considered
carefully by the Board of Directors and are considered suitable for a
scheme of this nature. The mortality assumption has been made more
prudent during the year to allow both for a higher level of current life
expectancy than previously used but also for further increases in the
expected future improvements to life expectancy. A male aged 65 in
2007 is expected to live for 20.6 years. This life expectancy is assumed
to increase by 1.2 years (6%) by 2020. This has added a further £7.6
million to liabilities in the year. A summary of the key assumptions of
the Plan are disclosed below:

Discount rate
Inflation
Pension increases

Life expectancy for
a male aged 65 in 2007
Life expectancy for
a male aged 65 in 2020
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31 December
2007
%

31 December
2006
%

5.7
3.3
3.3

5.1
2.9
2.9

31 December
2007
Age

31 December
2006
Age

85.6

83.6

86.8

85.1

The long term strategy for the Plan is to concentrate on the cash flows
required to fund the liabilities as they fall due. These cash flows
extend many years into the future and the ultimate objective is that
the total pool of assets derived from future company contributions
and the investment strategy allows each cash payment to members
to be made when due. Viewed on this basis the investment strategy
has many years for the assets to grow to help fund the liabilities.
Consistent with this approach a new investment strategy targeted at
an absolute rate of return has been implemented by the Trustee, with
the Company’s agreement, during 2007.
Risk management
The significant financial risks the Group faces have been considered
and policies have been implemented to best deal with each risk. The
four most significant financial risks are considered to be liquidity risk,
finance cost risk, exchange rate risk and commodity risk. These are
discussed in turn.
Liquidity risk
The Group moved from a net debt position of £162.6 million at
31 December 2006 to a net cash position at 31 December 2007 of
£32.4 million. As a result, the Group repaid a significant amount of its
bank term loans during the year. The committed bank term loan facility
comprises a term loan of £11.0 million (2006: £190.4 million) which
expires in 2010. The additional committed working capital facility of
£30 million remains unchanged from the previous year and the Group
also benefits from a few small local overdraft facilities and some finance
lease arrangements for specific assets which have £1.2 million (2006:
£3.8 million) outstanding capital balances at 31 December 2007.
The combination of having a net cash position and a reduced
committed bank facility means that the Directors consider
that the Group has sufficient capital for its current needs.
Finance cost risk
The interest rates the Group is exposed to are variable and linked to
LIBOR. Previously, when the Group had net debt it was appropriate
that financial instruments were entered into to protect against
movements in interest rates. Now that the Group has net cash this
protection is not considered necessary. Since moving into a net cash
position and repaying the majority of the term loan in May 2007, the
Group has received interest at an average rate of 5.7%.
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Exchange rate risk
The Group trades in various countries around the world and hence the
Group is exposed to many different foreign currencies. The Group
therefore carries an exchange risk that can be categorised into three
types, described below. The Board policy is designed to protect against
some of the cash risks but not the non-cash risks. The most common
cash risk is the transaction risk the Group takes when it invoices a sale
in a different currency to the one in which its cost of sale is incurred.
This is addressed by taking out forward cover against approximately
80% of the anticipated cash flows over the following twelve months,
placed on a rolling quarterly basis. This does not eliminate the cash risk
but does bring some certainty to it. During 2007 the Group incurred a
£1.0 million transaction exchange loss.
Exchange rates used in the period
Average Rate
to £ sterling

Closing Rate
to £ sterling

US dollar
2007
2006

2.00
1.84

2.00
1.96

Euro
2007
2006

1.46
1.47

1.36
1.49

The most significant exchange risk that the Group takes arises when
a division that is predominantly based in a foreign currency is sold.
The proceeds for those divisions will most likely be received in a
foreign currency and therefore an exchange risk arises if these
proceeds are converted back to sterling, for instance to pay a dividend
to shareholders. Protection against this risk is taken on a case-by-case
basis. On the signing of the agreement to sell the McKechnie
Aerospace OEM and Aerospace Aftermarket divisions, Melrose
purchased sterling call options to protect against the currency exposure
on US$575 million of the proceeds at an average exchange rate of
£1=US$1.986. No financial instruments of this nature currently exist
in the Group.
Commodity risk
As Melrose owns engineering businesses across various sectors the
cumulative expenditure on commodities is significant to the Group
results. The Group addresses the risk of base commodity costs
increasing by, wherever possible, passing on the cost increases to
customers or by having suitable purchase agreements with its
suppliers which sometimes fix the price over some months in the
future. Melrose does not generally enter into financial instruments on
commodities, as this is not considered to be the most efficient way of
protecting against movements.

The effect on the key headline numbers in 2007 for the continuing
Group due to the translation movement of exchange rates from 2006
to 2007 is summarised as follows:
2007
exchange rate
versus 2006
exchange rate
£m

2007 Effect
Sales reduction
Headline operating profit reduction
Net asset increase

GEOFFREY MARTIN
GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR
5 MARCH 2008

11.0
0.5
3.7

For reference, guidelines to show the net translation exchange risks that
the Group currently carries are shown below:
Increase in
profit
£m

For every 10 cent strengthening
of the US dollar against sterling
For every 10 cent strengthening
of the euro against sterling

0.2
1.1

As the translation risk is not a cash cost no exchange instruments are
used to protect against this risk. However, when the Group has net
debt, which it currently does not, the hedge of having a multicurrency
debt facility funding these foreign currency trading units protects
against some of this risk.
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Board of Directors

CHRISTOPHER MILLER

DAVID ROPER

The Board of Melrose,
which combines commercial
experience with financial
expertise, is dedicated to
delivering shareholder value
by improving the quality of the
businesses it owns through
restructuring and investment
where appropriate.

SIMON PECKHAM

GEOFFREY MARTIN

CHRISTOPHER MILLER EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
Age 56, he qualified as a chartered accountant with Coopers &
Lybrand, following which he was an Associate Director of Hanson plc.
In September 1988 he joined the board of Wassall PLC as its Chief
Executive. Between October 2000 and May 2003 he was involved in
private investment activities. Mr Miller was appointed as an executive
Director of Melrose on 29 May 2003. He is currently Chairman of
TMO Renewables Limited.
DAVID ROPER CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Age 57, he qualified as a chartered accountant with Peat Marwick
Mitchell, following which he worked in the corporate finance divisions
of S.G. Warburg & Co. Limited, BZW and Dillon Read. In September
1988 he was appointed to the board of Wassall PLC and became its
Deputy Chief Executive in 1993. Between October 2000 and May
2003 he was involved in private investment activities and served as
a non-executive Director on the boards of two companies. Mr Roper
was appointed as an executive Director of Melrose on 29 May 2003.
SIMON PECKHAM CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
Age 45, he qualified as a solicitor in 1986. In 1990 he joined Wassall
PLC and became an executive Director of Wassall PLC in 1999. From
October 2000 until May 2003 he worked for the equity finance
division of The Royal Bank of Scotland and was involved in several
high profile transactions. Mr Peckham was appointed as an executive
Director of Melrose on 29 May 2003.
GEOFFREY MARTIN GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR
Age 40, he qualified as a chartered accountant with Coopers &
Lybrand, where he worked within the corporate finance and audit
departments. In 1996 he joined Royal Doulton PLC. He was Group
Finance Director of Royal Doulton from October 2000 until June
2005. During this time, he was involved in projects including raising
public equity, debt refinancings and the restructuring and outsourcing
of Royal Doulton’s manufacturing and supply chain. Mr Martin was
appointed as an executive Director of Melrose on 7 July 2005.
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PERRY CROSTHWAITE

MILES TEMPLEMAN NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Age 60, he has been a director of several consumer goods and
retailing companies. He was Managing Director of Threshers
Off-Licences between 1985 and 1988 and Managing Director of
Whitbread Beer Company between 1990 and 2001. Mr Templeman
was Chief Executive Officer of HP Bulmer Holdings PLC from January
2003 to July 2003. He has also held a number of other nonexecutive directorships and was appointed as a non-executive Director
of Melrose on 8 October 2003. Since October 2004, Mr Templeman
has held the position of Director General of the Institute of Directors.
He is currently non-executive Chairman of Shepherd Neame, the
Kentish family brewer and non-executive Chairman of restaurant chain
YO! Sushi.
PERRY CROSTHWAITE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Age 59, he has over 30 years’ experience as a Director in the City
of London. He was a founding Director of Henderson Crosthwaite
Institutional Brokers Limited, serving on the board until its acquisition
by Investec Group (UK) PLC in 1998. He became a Director of
Investec Bank (UK) Limited and Chairman of the Investment Banking
division until his retirement in 2004. Mr Crosthwaite was appointed as
a non-executive Director of Melrose on 26 July 2005. He is currently
Chairman of Jupiter Green Investment Trust PLC and a non-executive
Director of ToLuna PLC.

JOHN GRANT

JOHN GRANT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Age 62, he spent his executive career in a variety of senior
international roles within the automotive industry and other
engineering businesses. In 2000 Mr Grant led a successful
management buy-out of four specialist engineering businesses from
Ascot PLC to form Hasgo Group Limited and Peter Stubs Limited. Prior
to that, he was Chief Executive of Ascot PLC between 1997 and
2000. Mr Grant previously worked as Group Finance Director for
Lucas Industries PLC (subsequently Lucas Varity PLC) between 1992
and 1996 and held a number of senior positions within Ford Motor
Company in Europe and the USA.
Mr Grant was appointed as a non-executive Director of Melrose on
1 August 2006. He is currently Non-Executive Chairman of Hasgo
Group Limited and Torotrak PLC, and Non-Executive Director of MHP
S.A, and The Royal Automobile Club Limited.
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Directors’ report

The Directors of Melrose PLC present their Report and the
Audited Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2007.
Principal activities and business review
Melrose PLC’s stated strategy is to acquire companies and businesses
whose operational performance the Melrose PLC Directors believe
can be improved to create shareholder value. The executive Directors
have extensive experience of identifying and evaluating acquisition
opportunities, quoted and unquoted, both UK and overseas.
On 26 May 2005, Melrose PLC acquired the Dynacast Group and the
McKechnie Group for a consideration of £429 million plus costs.
Since acquisition, Melrose has significantly improved the performance
of these businesses.
The Board announced on 14 May 2007 that the Company had
completed the disposal of its Aerospace OEM and Aerospace
Aftermarket divisions for a consideration of £428 million. Further, it
announced on 18 May 2007 that it had completed the sale of part of
the McKechnie PSM division for a consideration of £30 million.
The Board used £173 million of the proceeds of the disposals to
repay term loan facilities, and returned £220 million of the proceeds
to shareholders. Details of the capital reorganisation are shown on
page 21 and in the Finance Director’s review.
The Chairman’s statement on pages 4 and 5, together with the
Chief Executive’s review, Business review and Finance Director’s
review on pages 6 to 17 describe the principal activities, operations,
performance, financial position and likely future prospects of the Group.
The results of the Group are set out in detail on pages 36 to 39 and in
the accompanying notes.
The subsidiary and associated undertakings principally affecting the
profits or net assets of the group in the year are listed in note 3 to the
Melrose UK GAAP accounts (Company balance sheet).
In addition to the disposals referred to above, actions taken to enhance
the value of the Group during the year included investment across all
divisions, further restructuring within MVC and two targeted acquisitions
by Dynacast.
The Company is required by the Companies Acts to set out in this
report a fair review of the business of the Group during the year and of
the position of the Group at the end of the year and a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. The information
that fulfils these requirements can be found within the Chief
Executive’s review, Business review and Finance Director’s review on
pages 6 to 17. The Finance Director’s review also indicates the key
performance indicators that management use.

Financial results and dividend
The Group’s profit for the financial year attributable to members was
£215.0 million (2006: £37.8 million) including £0.2 million minority
interests (2006: £0.1 million). The Directors are pleased to
recommend the payment on 16 May 2008 to Ordinary shareholders
on the register at the close of business on 14 March 2008, of a final
dividend of 4.25 pence per Ordinary Share.
It is the intention of the Board to maintain a progressive dividend
policy going forward.
Directors’ Appointment and Powers
The Directors of Melrose PLC as at the date of this report, together
with their biographical details, are given on pages 18 to 19. No other
person served as a Director during the year. There were no changes
to the Board during the year.
The Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”) give the Directors
power to appoint and replace Directors. Under the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, any appointment must be
recommended by the Nomination Committee for approval by the
Board of Directors. The Articles also require Directors to retire and
submit themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting
following their appointment and at each Annual General Meeting one
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and must
therefore submit themselves for re-election.
The Directors are responsible for managing the business of the
Company and may exercise all the power of the Company subject to
the provision of relevant statutes, to any directions given by special
resolution and to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles. The
Articles, for example, contain specific provisions concerning the
Company’s power to borrow money. Powers relating to the issuing of
shares and powers to purchase the Company’s own shares are also
included in the Articles and such authorities are renewed by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting each year.
Pursuant to section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company
has power to purchase its own shares, limited to an aggregate
maximum number of 13,366,502 Ordinary Shares.
Directors’ interests and remuneration
Information on Directors’ beneficial interests, including those of
connected persons (within the meaning of section 252 of the
Companies Act 2006), in the shares of the Company is shown in the
Remuneration report on pages 30 to 33.
No Director had a material interest at any time during the year in any
contract, other than a service contract, with the Company or any of its
subsidiary undertakings.
Directors’ indemnities
The Directors have the benefit of “qualifying third party indemnity
provisions” for the purposes of sections 309A to 309C of the
Companies Act 1985.
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Significant agreements – change of control
There are no agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a
change of control of the Company following a takeover bid, that are
considered to be significant in terms of their potential impact on the
business of the Group as a whole on 5 March 2008.
In the event of the takeover of the Company, the 2007 Incentive Shares
would convert into Ordinary Shares, the conversion being based upon
the offer price of shares as calculated on the date of change of control
of the Company. If part or all of the offer price were not in cash, the
remuneration committee would determine the value of the non-cash
element, having been advised by an investment bank of repute that
such valuation is fair and reasonable.
Share capital
Details of the structure of the Company’s share capital and rights
attached to the Company’s shares are set out below in compliance
with the requirements of section 992 of the Companies Act 2006.
Changes to the issued share capital of Melrose PLC in issue during
the year are detailed below.
Ordinary Shares
Following approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August
2007, options over 8,877 Convertible B Shares (“Original Incentive
Shares”) were exercised by executive Directors and senior management
and converted into Original Incentive Shares. This resulted in 59,170
Original Incentive Shares being held by Directors, senior management
and the Employee Benefit Trust, which were converted into 10,210,069
Ordinary Shares of 0.1p. The total number of Ordinary Shares of 0.1p
then in issue was 267,330,058.
On 15 August 2007 these Ordinary Shares of 0.1p were consolidated
so that Shareholders received one Ordinary Share of 0.2p for every
two Ordinary Shares of 0.1p. Ordinary Shares of 0.2p are traded on
the London Stock Exchange in the same way as the Ordinary Shares
of 0.1p and are equivalent in all material respects to the Ordinary
Shares of 0.1p, including their dividend, voting and other rights.
Incentive shares
On 14 August 2007, the original incentive scheme was replaced by a
new share incentive scheme (the “2007 Incentive Scheme”) running
until 31 May 2012, based on the same principles as the original share
incentive arrangements, other than the trigger dates. 50,000 new
2007 Incentive Shares of £1 each were issued to Directors, senior

management and Ogier Employment Benefit Trustee Limited, as
trustee of the Employee Benefit Trust.
The 2007 Incentive Shares do not confer a right to be paid a dividend
or the right to vote at a general meeting. On winding up, the holders
are entitled to participate in the Company’s assets equal to an amount
to which they would have been entitled if their Incentive Shares had
converted into Ordinary Shares as at the date of winding up.
C Shares and return of capital
On 14 August 2007, shareholders approved the return of £220
million in capital to shareholders and as a result 267,330,058
Redeemable Preference C Shares of 82.3p (“C Shares”) were issued
on the basis of one C Share for every Ordinary Share of 0.1p held.
Holders of 187,786,984 C Shares opted to redeem their shares on
23 August 2007 and these C Shares were subsequently cancelled.
Holders of 70,489,480 C Shares opted to take the Single C Share
Dividend on 23 August 2007 when C Shares were converted into C
Deferred Shares. Final Redemption of the C Shares will take place on
30 June 2008, when 9,053,594 C Shares will be redeemed and
these C Shares will then be cancelled together with the
C Deferred Shares.
The holders of the remaining C Shares and C Deferred Shares shall
not be entitled to:
■
■

any further right of participating in the profits of the Company;
the right to vote at general meetings except holders of C Shares
can vote on the winding up of the Company.

On a winding up, the holders of the C Shares shall be entitled in
priority to all other classes of shares to 82.3 pence per C Share. The
holders of the C Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to any right or
participation in the assets of the Company on a winding up.
Further rights and obligations attaching to shares
Following the implementation of the EU Takeover Directive into UK law,
the following description provides the required information for
shareholders where not already provided elsewhere in this report. This
summary is based on the Company’s current articles of association, but
please note that it is proposed that the Company will adopt new articles
of association with effect from the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting on 7 May 2008, brief details of which are set out on pages 24
and 89.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares
Original Incentive Shares
2007 Incentive Shares
Redeemable Preference C Shares:
Initial redemption
Single C Shares dividend
C Deferred Shares (arising on payment of single C Share dividend)

1 January
2007

Issued during
2007

257,119,989
59,170
–
–
–
–
–

10,210,069
–
50,000
267,330,058
–
–
–

Changes during
2007

(133,665,029)
(59,170)
–
–
(187,786,984)
(70,489,480)
70,489,480

31 December
2007

133,665,029
–
50,000
9,053,594
–
–
70,489,480
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Directors’ report continued

Voting
Only Ordinary Shares have voting rights attached. In a general meeting
of the Company, subject to the provisions of the current Articles and to
any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any class of
shares in the Company (of which there are currently none):

No member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting or class
meeting in respect of any shares held by him if any call or other sum
then payable by him in respect of that share remains unpaid. Currently,
all issued shares are fully paid. The Employee Benefit Trustee holds
25,279 Ordinary Shares and the Remuneration committee may direct
how the voting rights of those shares are exercised.

Transfer of shares
Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his
certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any
other form which the Board may approve, and the instrument shall be
executed by or on behalf of the transferor. Subject to the Articles and the
requirements of any relevant investment exchange, the Board may, in its
absolute discretion and without giving any reason, refuse to register any
instrument of transfer of a certificated share which is not a fully paid share
or on which the Company has a lien. The Board may also decline to
register a transfer of a certificated share unless the instrument of transfer
is: (i) in respect of only one class of shares; (ii) in favour of not more than
four joint transferees or renouncees; (iii) duly stamped (if required) and
(iv) delivered for registration to the registered office, or such other place
as the Board may decide, accompanied by the certificate for the shares
to which it relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably
require to prove the title of the transferor or person renouncing and the
due execution by him of the transfer or renunciation.

Deadlines for voting rights
Full details of the deadlines for exercising voting rights in respect of
the resolutions to be considered at the Annual General Meeting to be
held on 7 May 2008 are set out in the Notice of Annual General
Meeting on pages 87 to 90.

The Board may permit any class of shares in the Company to be held
in uncertificated form and, subject to the Articles, title to uncertificated
shares to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may
revoke any such permission. Registration of a transfer of an
uncertificated share may be refused where permitted by the Articles.

Dividends and distributions
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 and the
Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Acts”), the Company may, by
ordinary resolution, declare a dividend to be paid to the members,
but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. The Board may pay interim dividends, and also any fixed rate
dividend, whenever the financial position of the Company, in the
opinion of the Board, justifies its payment. All dividends shall be
apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on
the shares. Currently, all issued shares are fully paid.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 5 March 2008 the Company has been advised of the following
interests in the Ordinary Share capital of the Company.

■

■

On a show of hands, every member present in person shall have
one vote; and
On a poll, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall
have one vote for every share of which he is the holder.

The Board may deduct from a dividend or other amounts payable to
a person in respect of the share amounts due from him to the
Company on account of call or otherwise in relation to a share.
Liquidation
Under the current Articles, if the Company is in liquidation, the
liquidator may, on obtaining any sanction required by law:
■

■

divide among the members in kind the whole or any part of the
assets of the Company; or
vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts
for the benefit of members as the liquidator, with the like sanction,
shall determine.
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Direct holding

Artemis Investment
Management
Ameriprise Financial
(Threadneedle)
BlackRock Investment
Management
Standard Life Investments
Lloyds TSB Group
HSBC Bank Plc
Fidelity International
Legal and General Group
Credit Suisse Asset
Management

Indirect holding

13,670,796

%

10.23
13,444,817

10.06

11,291,819
2,073,089
8,172,976

5,382,968

8.45
7.10
6.12
5.88
4.81
4.03

4,653,968

3.48

7,421,360
7,857,127

6,423,194

Directors’ Interests in Shares
Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are set out in the
Remuneration report on pages 30 to 33.
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Employees
The Group recognises its responsibilities for the fair treatment of all its
employees in accordance with national legislation applicable to the
territories within which it operates. Having regard to their skills and
abilities, the Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for
employment received from disabled persons, and so far as particular
disabilities permit, will give employees disabled during their period of
employment continued employment in the same job or, if this is not
practicable, a suitable alternative job. Equal opportunities for
appropriate training, career development and promotion are available
to all employees regardless of any physical disability, gender, religion,
race, nationality, sexual orientation or age.
Employee involvement and consultation
The Directors attach great importance to good labour relations and
employee involvement and development. The results for the half year
and financial year are discussed with senior management and the
opportunity is taken where possible to inform them of Group
developments. The nature of the Group’s activities places the
responsibility for employee consultation with local management in a
manner appropriate to the particular circumstances of each business.
Several of the businesses operate works councils for the purposes of
consultation and dissemination of information. Newsletters are also
used as a means of communicating with employees.
Employee involvement in the Group’s profitability is encouraged
through appropriate bonus and incentive schemes.
Pensions
Companies within the Melrose Group operate various pension
schemes around the world. The only significant scheme to the Group
is the McKechnie Pension Plan (the “Plan”), a UK defined benefit
pension scheme with McKechnie Limited as its principal employer.
The Plan closed to new members on 9 May 2003 and for future
accrual as at 30 June 2005. The primary liability for funding the Plan
rests with the participating employers, although Melrose PLC has
guaranteed the payment of certain contributions.
As part of the disposal process of the McKechnie Aerospace division
Melrose obtained clearance from the UK Pensions Regulator for its
agreement with the Trustee of the Plan. Melrose made a cash
payment of £20 million to the Plan in May 2007 and agreed to pay a
further £18.3 million in equal quarterly instalments of £1.5 million
over the next three years starting in July 2007. The Company further
agreed to meet the reasonable administration expenses of the Plan
and the Pension Protection Fund Levy up to 30 April 2010 and has
guaranteed the funding of the Plan on an ongoing basis.
On today’s assumptions, the above mentioned contributions will be
sufficient to eliminate the deficit in the Plan on an ongoing basis by
2010. The funding level of the Plan and the overall security of
members’ benefits have been significantly improved as a result of the
agreement reached with the Trustee.

Research and development
The Group continually invests in research and development into new
products and new products were launched across the Group during
the year, some of these are mentioned in the Business review. No
research and development expenditure has been capitalised in the
year. The Group continues to invest in new technology in order to
reduce manufacturing costs and to improve productivity. The Group
will continue to invest in research and development that has a
suitable payback.
Social responsibility
Melrose PLC recognises the importance of social, environmental and
ethical matters and the Directors endeavour to take into account the
interests of all stakeholders, including investors, employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners when managing the businesses within
the Group.
Community involvement
During its ownership of the Dynacast and McKechnie businesses,
Melrose has invested in its businesses in order to enhance their
reputation within the markets and communities in which they
operate.
Dynacast provide training within the community through an Internship
Scheme. This programme is designed to provide work experience and
vocational training for local graduates, improving their opportunity to
obtain permanent employment in the local market where skilled and
experienced workers are in demand.
Risk factors
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies in
relation to the use of financial instruments are described in the
Finance Director’s review on pages 12 to 17. Additionally, key risks,
which if they were to occur could impact on the business, are covered
in the Business review on pages 8 to 11.
Health, safety and the environment
The Directors seek to minimise risk to the health and safety of the
Group’s employees by ensuring effective management of the Group’s
activities.
The Group uses external consultants where appropriate to carry out
health and safety and environmental audits. Areas for improvement
identified by the external auditor are monitored and audit reports
quantify performance in key areas. These audit reports facilitate the
targeting and measurement of future improvements. Operating
businesses have established Health and Safety Committees who
meet regularly to review health and safety incidents and to plan
initiatives to further reduce risks.
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Directors’ report continued

The Group recognises the importance of its environmental
responsibilities, monitors its impact on the environment, and
implements local policies to reduce any damage that might be caused
by the Group’s activities. The Group is committed to ensuring that its
operations have minimum adverse effect upon the environment and
that employees are aware of their role in safeguarding the future of the
environment. Many sites have continued with a number of initiatives
targeted to enhance the Group’s environmental, and ultimately,
competitive position.
Initiatives designed to minimise the Group’s impact on the
environment include improvements to energy efficiency, reductions in
CO2 emissions, re-cycling and waste reduction. McKechnie Plastic
Components established an energy committee during the year in
order to push forward ideas for reductions in energy consumption.
They undertook an initiative to measure their carbon footprint, which
has since reduced significantly as a result of changing to a “carbon
friendly” energy supplier and reducing transport between
manufacturing and warehouse locations.
Other specific measures include management and recycling of waste
including scrap, solvents and plastics, energy efficient lighting and
reductions in water usage.
Many of the businesses across the Group are accredited to the
international environmental standard ISO14001.
Payments to suppliers
It is the Group’s general policy to abide by the terms of payment
agreed with its suppliers at the time of individual transactions and to
ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and
abide by them. The nature of the Company’s transactions is such that
any calculation of creditor days in the Company only accounts does
not have any meaning.

Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in
office as auditors. Accordingly, a resolution will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-appoint Deloitte &
Touche LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors
to determine their remuneration.
Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the
offices of Investec at 2 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7QP at 11.00
am on 7 May 2008.
Resolutions dealing with the following special business will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting:
Resolution 7 will seek shareholder approval of the Remuneration
report.
Resolution 8 will seek approval to amend the Articles of Association
in accordance with the printed document produced to the Meeting
and initialled by the Chairman for the purposes of identification. The
changes are to reflect the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (“CA
2006”) and to remove any inconsistencies with current law.
Explanatory notes on the changes are set out in the Appendix to the
Notice of Meeting. The key changes can be summarised as follows:
■

■

■

■

Charitable and political donations
The Group paid £3,293 (2006: £5,950) to UK charities during the
year, principally to local charities serving the communities in which the
Group operates. There were no political donations made during the
year (2006: £nil).
Auditors
Under the Companies (Audit, Investigation and Community
Enterprise) Act 2004, auditors have the right to access all information
necessary for performance of their duties as auditor and the duties of
Directors in this regard are clarified.
So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the auditors are unaware and the Directors have taken all
the steps which they ought to have taken as a Director to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.
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■

■

■

■

References to extraordinary resolutions have been removed, as
these have not been retained under CA 2006.
Amendments have been made to provisions relating to convening of
general meetings and the length of notice required. In particular the
notice required for a general meeting at which a special resolution is
to be considered has been reduced from 21 to 14 days.
The quorum for a general meeting has been amended to two
“qualifying persons”, which now includes a person authorised to act
as a representative of a corporation in relation to the meeting.
The Articles reflect enhanced rights of proxies provided by CA 2006
to speak at a meeting, and to be counted on a show of hands.
Provisions relating to the age of a director have been updated
following the implementation of the Employment Equality (Age)
Regulations 2006.
Provisions of CA 2006 regarding directors’ interests are expected to
come into force in October 2008. The Articles will, from such time
as those provisions come into force, give the Directors authority to
approve conflicts of interest, subject to certain safeguards.
CA 2006 has widened the scope of the power of a company to
indemnify directors who are also directors of a company which is a
trustee of an occupational pension scheme against liability incurred
in connection with that company’s activities as a trustee of that
scheme. Amendments have been made to reflect this and also the
fact that the Company may grant indemnities to directors of
associated companies.
The Articles have also been amended as described in the note on
Resolution 9 below to allow for electronic communications as
permitted under CA 2006.
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Resolution 9 will seek the approval of members to the Company
communicating with shareholders by sending or supplying documents
or information to members by making them available on its website,
following the changes to its Articles and implementation of sections of
the CA 2006 as noted in Resolution 8.
Provisions of CA 2006 enable companies to communicate with
members by electronic and/or website communications. The revised
Articles continue to allow communications to members in electronic
form and also permit the Company to use the new provisions relating
to website communications.
Before the Company can communicate with a member by means of
website communication, the relevant member must be asked
individually by the Company to agree that the Company may send or
supply documents or information to him by means of a website, and
the Company must either have received a positive response, or, as
provided by CA 2006, if no response is received within the period of 28
days beginning with the date on which the request was sent, may
deem receipt of a positive response. The Company will notify the
member (either in writing, or by other permitted means) when a
relevant document or information is placed on the website. If required,
a member can request a hard copy version at any time.
Resolution 10 will seek shareholder approval to renew the Directors’
authority to allot relevant securities pursuant to section 80 of the
Companies Act 1985 (the “Section 80 authority”). The authority
contained in the resolution will be limited to an aggregate nominal
amount of £89,110, representing approximately one third of the
Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital as at 5 March 2008. The
Company does not hold any treasury shares.

Resolution 12 will seek to renew the authority conferred on the
Company to purchase its own shares pursuant to section 166 of the
Companies Act 1985. This authority is limited to an aggregate
maximum number of 13,366,502 Ordinary Shares, representing
approximately 10 per cent of the Company’s issued Ordinary Share
capital as at 5 March 2008. This power will expire at the conclusion of
next year’s Annual General Meeting. The maximum price which may
be paid for an Ordinary Share will be an amount which is not more
than 5 per cent above the average of the mid-market quotations of
the Ordinary Shares as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily
Official List. The Directors have no present intention of exercising all or
any of the powers conferred by this resolution and will only exercise
their authority if it is in the interests of shareholders generally.
Recommendations
The Board believes that each of the resolutions to be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting is in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors unanimously
recommend that you vote in favour of all of the resolutions proposed,
as they intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings.
Disclosures in the Directors’ report
The Corporate Governance report and Business review and Finance
Director’s review form part of the Directors’ report.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

GARRY BARNES
SECRETARY
5 March 2008

Resolution 11 will seek to renew the authority conferred on the
Board to allot equity securities of the Company for cash pursuant to
section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Section 95 Authority”)
which disapplies the pre-emption rights provided by section 89(1) of
the Companies Act 1985. It is limited to the allotment of equity
securities which have been offered pro rata to Ordinary Shareholders,
subject to any arrangements the Directors consider appropriate to
deal with fractions and overseas requirements, and otherwise in
relation to the allotment of equity securities up to a maximum
nominal value of £13,366, representing approximately 5 per cent of
the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital as at 5 March 2008,
which is in accordance with the relevant guidelines for the Company.
If approved, the Section 80 authority and the Section 95 authority will
expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting. The
Directors have no present intention of exercising the Section 80
authority or the Section 95 authority.
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Corporate Governance report

Statement of compliance
The Company supports the principles of corporate governance contained
in the 2006 Combined Code on Corporate Governance which is
appended to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

In accordance with the provisions of the Combined Code,
consideration has been given to the independence of all the
non-executive Directors. The Board considers all the non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good
governance. The Company has complied with the provisions of
section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. The
statements below describe how the Company has applied the
principles identified in the Combined Code.

Mr Miles Templeman held 1,478 Convertible B Shares which he
purchased in 2003 at the time the Company was admitted to AIM.
These Convertible B Shares converted into 255,036 Ordinary Shares
on 14 August 2007 when members approved the proposal to
terminate the Company’s existing incentive share arrangements.
Details of the conversion into Ordinary Shares are shown on page 32.
The Board believes that, notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph
A.3.1 of the Combined Code, Mr Templeman’s holding of Convertible
B Shares prior to the crystalisation of the Original Incentive Share
Scheme does not affect his independence as a non-executive Director
of the Company. On the same date the 2007 Incentive Share
Scheme was approved, based on the same principles as the Original
Incentive Share Scheme. The non-executive Directors are not entitled
to any shares under the new incentive arrangement.

The Board
The Board meets regularly during the year as well as on an ad-hoc
basis as required by time critical business needs. The Board is
responsible to shareholders for the effective and proper management
and control of the Company and has a formal schedule of matters
reserved for its decisions. Its primary roles are to determine and
review Company strategy and policy, consider acquisitions and
disposals, assess requests for major capital expenditure and give
consideration to all other significant financial matters. This process is
undertaken following discussions in conjunction with senior executive
management who in turn are responsible for day to day conduct of
the Group’s operations and for reporting to the Board on the progress
being made in meeting the objectives. There were nine scheduled
Board meetings held during the year, including five meetings
convened in order to consider corporate transactions and related
activities. The attendance of each of the Directors is shown on page 28.
As at 31 December 2007, the Board comprised seven members
being the executive Chairman, Mr Christopher Miller, three other
executive Directors and three non-executive Directors. The four
executive Directors, Mr Christopher Miller, Chairman, Mr David Roper,
Chief Executive Officer, Mr Simon Peckham, Chief Operating Officer
and Mr Geoffrey Martin, Group Finance Director, and the three
non-executive Directors, Mr Miles Templeman, Mr Perry Crosthwaite
and Mr John Grant, served throughout the year. The terms and
conditions of the non-executive Directors’ appointments and the
executive Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection
at the Company’s registered office and the non-executive Directors’
appointment letters are available on the Company’s website
www.melroseplc.net.
The Board believes the Directors possess diverse business
experience in spheres complementary to the activities of Melrose PLC,
as well as other sectors. Biographies of the Directors are shown on
pages 18 to 19. These biographies identify any other appointments
held by the Directors. The only executive Director to hold nonexecutive Director appointments elsewhere is Mr Christopher Miller
and he does not receive any income from his appointment with TMO
Renewables Limited.
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A process of evaluating the performance of the Board and standing
Committees is in place. The Chairman has held meetings with the
Directors including the senior independent non-executive Director,
Mr Miles Templeman, to discuss the performance of the executive
Directors and the Board as a whole. It was considered that the individual
Directors and the Board as a whole were operating effectively. In
addition, each of the Directors completed a questionnaire during the
year designed to identify any failures in performance of the Board and
each of its Committees in order to determine any training requirements.
The findings of these questionnaires were reviewed by the Company
Secretary and feedback was provided to the Board.
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third (or
the number nearest to but not less than one third) of all Directors are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at each Annual
General Meeting of the Company. It is the policy of the Board that nonexecutive Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years,
following which their appointment will be reviewed.
Certain Directors are proposed for re-election as set out in the Notice
of Annual General Meeting on page 87. The Board and Nomination
Committee have carefully considered the time commitments required
and the contribution made by each Director and both the Nomination
Committee and the Board are of the belief that the performance of
each executive and non-executive Director continues to be effective
and that each Director demonstrates commitment to their role.
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On appointment, all Directors receive a formal and tailored induction.
Directors are advised that they have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary and, in addition, that they are entitled to
seek independent professional advice in the furtherance of their
duties, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.
A pack of briefing papers and an agenda is provided for each Director
in advance of each scheduled meeting. The Directors are able to seek
further clarification and information on any matter from any other
Director or employee of the Group whenever necessary. Decisions
are taken by the Board in conjunction with the recommendations of
its Committees and advice from external consultants and executive
management.
Chairman and Chief Executive
The Board’s policy is that the roles of Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive of the Company should be split.
The division of responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive is set out in writing and has been approved by the Board.
The Board considers that the respective roles and responsibilities are
clearly understood by both individuals and by the Board as a whole
with the Chairman alone responsible for the leadership of the Board
and for ensuring effective communication with shareholders and the
Chief Executive being responsible for decisions involving the day-today management of the Company.
Committees of the Board
In accordance with the provisions of the Combined Code, the Board has
three standing Committees; the Audit, Nomination and the
Remuneration Committee, each of which comprise the three
independent non-executive Directors. The duties of the Committees are
set out in formal terms of reference, which were updated during the
year. These are available from the Company Secretary and on the
Company’s website www.melroseplc.net. Membership of the
Committees is shown below. The Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to each of the Committees.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr Miles Templeman,
Mr Perry Crosthwaite and Mr John Grant. Mr Perry Crosthwaite chairs
the Committee.
The function of the Committee is to establish and review the terms
and conditions of employment of the executive Directors, and to
make recommendations to the Board on the overall framework and
broad policy for the remuneration of the Company’s Directors and
other senior executives within the Group.

The Committee met four times during the year. The attendance
of its members is shown in the table on page 28. The report to
shareholders on how Directors are remunerated, together with details
of individual Directors’ remuneration are shown on pages 30 to 33.
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee currently comprises Mr Christopher Miller
and the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr Miles
Templeman, Mr Perry Crosthwaite and Mr John Grant. Mr Miles
Templeman is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The Committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the
Board, particularly in relation to the balance of skills, experience and
knowledge and seeks to ensure that both executive and nonexecutive Directors have the necessary skills and attributes for the
future success of the Company. The Committee reviews succession
plans for the Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on
membership of the Board and of its Committees. The Committee
retains external search consultants as appropriate.
The Committee is expected to meet not less than twice a year and
during 2007 the Committee met twice.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises the three independent nonexecutive Directors, Mr Miles Templeman, Mr Perry Crosthwaite and
Mr John Grant. Mr Miles Templeman is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. Each member of the Committee brings relevant financial
experience from senior executive and non-executive positions as
described in their biographies on pages 18 to 19.
The Committee invites the Group Finance Director, the Head of
Financial Reporting and senior representatives of the external auditors
to attend meetings as appropriate to the business being considered.
In addition, the Committee has the right to invite any other
employees to attend meetings where this is considered appropriate.
The Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control systems, accounting policies and practices,
risk management procedures and compliance controls as well as the
integrity of the Company’s financial statements.
The Committee is responsible for the development, implementation
and monitoring of the Company’s policy on external audit and for
overseeing the objectivity and effectiveness of the auditors. The
Committee recommends the appointment and re-appointment of the
Company’s external auditors and considers the scope of their audit work
and the cost effectiveness of their work.
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The Committee has a policy on the engagement of the external
auditor to supply non-audit services and the Committee is aware of
the audit and non-audit services (including taxation advice) which
have been provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP during 2007. A
significant proportion of the non-audit services related to nonrecurring work in connection with the sale of the McKechnie
Aerospace and PSM divisions. The provision of non-audit services
were considered to be appropriate, given the external auditor’s depth
of knowledge of the affairs and financial practices in the Group. The
Committee is satisfied that, notwithstanding non-audit work, Deloitte
& Touche LLP have retained objectivity and independence during the
year. The Committee will continue to monitor its policy in this regard.
The Chairman of the Committee will attend the Company’s Annual
General Meeting to respond to any shareholder questions that might
be raised concerning the Committee’s activities.

Attendance at meetings
The table below shows the attendance of each of the Directors at the
scheduled and significant meetings of the Board and its standing
Committees held during the year. The quorum necessary for the
transaction of business by the Board and each of its standing
Committees is two. Decisions are taken by the Board, in conjunction,
where appropriate, with the recommendations of its Committees and
advice from external advisors and executive management. The
representations of any director who is unable to attend a scheduled
meeting of the Board or a standing Committee are duly considered by
those directors in attendance.
Board

Audit

Remuneration

Nomination

Number of meetings

9

3

4

2

Christopher Miller
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin
Miles Templeman
Perry Crosthwaite
John Grant

8
8
7
9
8
7
9

n/a
n/a
n/a
3(2)
3
2
3

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
3
3
4

2
n/a
n/a
n/a
2
1
2

(1)

(2)

In addition, ad-hoc meetings are held from time to time which are attended by a
quorum of directors and are convened to deal with specific items of business.
Mr Martin attends by invitation.
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The systems and processes
established by the Board are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and cannot
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Audit Committee ensures the effectiveness and efficiency of the
internal control processes implemented by senior management. This
includes discussions with senior management of the Company. These
findings are in turn discussed by the full Board. The Board is
committed to satisfying the internal control guidance for directors set
out in the ICAEW Turnbull Report. Further, the Board is aware of the
major risks facing the Company and the steps taken by the Company
where possible to mitigate such risks.

The Committee is expected to meet not less than three times a year
and during 2007 the Committee met three times. The attendance of
its members, along with the Group Finance Director, is shown in the
table below.

(1)

Internal Control and Risk Management
Philosophy and policy
The objective of the Directors and senior management is to safeguard
and increase the value of the business and assets of the Group.
Achievement of this objective requires the development of policies
and appropriate internal controls to ensure the Group’s resources are
managed properly and any risks are identified.

Key risks
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies in
relation to the use of financial instruments are described in the
Finance Director’s review on pages 12 to 17. Other key risks which
could adversely affect the Group are described in the Chief
Executive’s review and Business review on pages 6 to 11.
Managing and controlling risk
A summary of the structures and processes in place to identify and
manage risks across the Group are set out below. Divisional
executives, plant managers and financial controllers are responsible
for managing the business risks within their business.
There is an ongoing process to identify and evaluate risks faced by the
Group, through the conduct of regular meetings and business reviews
with the Group’s senior management. The risk process is regularly
reviewed by the Board.
The Group has policies which address a number of key business risks,
including financial, treasury, health and safety and environmental. The
policies are made available to relevant employees through manuals
and also via specific employee briefings and other communications as
appropriate. Senior management assume responsibility for managing
risk in the businesses. Where appropriate, external advisers are
appointed in order to support this process.
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The Group has a whistleblowing policy in place which enables
individuals to make protected disclosures to the divisional human
resources manager, Group Company Secretary or senior independent
non-executive Director if they have concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting or other malpractices within their
business.
Accountability and audit
The Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the
consolidated financial statements is set out on page 34.
Going concern
On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.
Internal financial controls
The Group has a comprehensive system for regular monitoring and
reporting of financial performance and assessing the efficiency of the
Group’s systems of internal controls. A detailed budget is prepared by
management and thereafter is reviewed and formally adopted by the
Board. The budget and other targets are regularly updated via a rolling
forecast process and regular business review meetings are also held
involving senior management, at which the Group’s overall
performance is assessed. The results of these reviews are in turn
reported to and discussed by the Board at each meeting.
The Audit Committee has considered whether there is a requirement
for an internal audit function and based on the Group’s strong
financial controls and management, the Committee is satisfied that an
internal audit function is not presently required. Instead, the audit of
internal financial controls forms part of the responsibilities of the
Group’s finance function. This matter will be kept under regular
review. During the year members of the head office finance team
conducted internal audits over financial controls in place at various
divisional locations.

Communications with shareholders
Principally via the executive Directors, the Company seeks to build on a
mutual understanding of objectives with its institutional shareholders
through regular meetings and presentations following announcements
of annual and interim results. The senior independent Director, Mr
Miles Templeman, is available to meet institutional shareholders should
there be unresolved matters they wish to bring to his attention.
The views of key analysts and shareholders are communicated back
to the Board directly by individual Directors and via the Company’s
brokers ensuring all members of the Board develop an understanding
of the views of major shareholders.
Corporate information is also available on the Company’s website,
www.melroseplc.net.
Constructive use of the Annual General Meeting
The Board welcomes the attendance of shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting and the attendance of all Directors is required.
The number of proxy votes cast for and against each of the
resolutions proposed is announced at the AGM and a summary will
be available shortly after the AGM on the Company’s website,
www.melroseplc.net.
By order of the Board

GARRY BARNES
SECRETARY
5 March 2008

The Board confirms that, from its review of the system of internal
control, it has not determined any significant failings or weaknesses
that it considers requires remedial action. The Board also confirms
that it has not been advised of any material weaknesses in the
internal control systems that relate to financial reporting.
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Remuneration report

Introduction and compliance
This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee on
behalf of the Board in accordance with the requirements of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report regulations of the Companies Act
1985 (as amended), the Combined Code and the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority. A resolution inviting shareholders to
approve the report will be put to the Annual General Meeting on
7 May 2008.

prior to the beginning of each year and when an individual changes
position or responsibility. Basic salaries were reviewed in December
2007 and it was agreed that all Directors’ base salaries would be frozen
and reviewed following the next substantial acquisition. The executive
Directors also receive a company car allowance, fuel allowance, private
medical insurance, life insurance and permanent health insurance
cover. Mr Martin also receives paid train travel to London and
accommodation costs paid whilst working in London.

The Directors’ emoluments and Directors’ shareholdings have been
subject to audit.

Bonuses
Bonus scheme arrangements are in place for executive Directors and
senior employees. The executive Directors and senior employee bonus
arrangements are calculated based on improvement in headline
operating profit of the business over the previous year and is, where
appropriate, adjusted for operating cashflow changes. The maximum
bonus payable is 100% of an executive Director’s base salary, excluding
the Chairman who does not participate in the annual bonus scheme.

Biographies of the Directors are shown on pages 18 to 19. These
biographies identify any other significant appointments held by the
Directors. None of the executive Directors receives any income from
their appointment as non-executive Director elsewhere.
Unaudited information:
Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee which is
chaired by Mr Perry Crosthwaite, an independent non-executive
Director. Other members of the Committee are the other two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr Miles Templeman and
Mr John Grant.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website
www.melroseplc.net and are also available from the Company
Secretary. Page 27 of the Corporate Governance Report sets out the
function of the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration policy
The remuneration policy is established by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee.
The policy for remuneration is that the package offered should be
sufficient to attract, retain and motivate executive Directors and senior
executives of the quality required, but not more than is necessary for
this purpose. It is intended that performance related pay should
comprise a significant proportion of the total remuneration.
Remuneration is reviewed annually, generally effective on 1 January.
The Remuneration Committee and its advisers use a number of
surveys of the employment market from which to obtain
remuneration data.
The remuneration package
The remuneration package for all executive Directors comprises
base salary and benefits, annual bonus, long term incentive
arrangements and pension contribution. Some senior employees
of the Group are also remunerated using these arrangements, which
are described below.
Base salary and benefits
Base salary takes into account the performance of the individual and
information from independent sources and consultants on market
levels. An executive Director’s basic salary is reviewed by the Committee
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Long Term Incentives
During 2007 Melrose PLC operated the following long term incentive
schemes:
■
■

■

Dynacast Long Term Incentive Scheme
Convertible B Shares (“Original Incentive Shares”) which were
approved by shareholders on 15 October 2003 and crystallised on
14 August 2007
2007 Incentive Share Scheme, approved by shareholders on
14 August 2007

Dynacast Long Term Incentive Scheme
During 2006 the Dynacast Long Term Incentive Scheme was created
for the senior management of the Dynacast division. Payment in cash
will be made either upon the sale of Dynacast or in 2009. If the latter,
payment will be based upon the average financial performance of
Dynacast during 2007 and 2008. A non cash charge of £1.1 million
was made to the income statement during the year in respect of this
scheme. This charge represents an estimate of this year’s proportion
of the amortisation of the estimated future entitlement to the
members of the Scheme over its life.
Convertible B Shares (“Original Incentive Shares”)
At the Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August 2007 (the
“EGM”), the members approved the proposal to terminate the
existing share incentive arrangements by requiring holders of the
Original Incentive Shares and Original Incentive Share options to
convert into Ordinary Shares, crystallising the accrued value up to
18 July 2007 attributable to the Original Incentive Shares. Details of
the conversion into Ordinary Shares are shown on page 32.
2007 Incentive Share Scheme
At the EGM, a new long term incentive plan (the “2007 Incentive
Share Scheme”) was approved together with an allocation of 2007
Incentive Shares to all the executive Directors and two senior
employees. The 2007 Incentive Share Scheme is based on the same
principles as the Original Incentive Share Scheme, whereby
participants are only rewarded if shareholder value is created, thereby
aligning the interests of management with those of shareholders.
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Under these new incentive arrangements the participants hold 2007
Incentive Shares, which convert shortly after 31 May 2012 or, if earlier,
on the takeover of the Company, into Ordinary Shares with an
aggregate value at conversion equal to 10 per cent of the increase in
shareholder value. With the consent of the Remuneration Committee,
participants may convert early up to one-third of their holdings in 2010
and in 2011. The number of Ordinary Shares arising on conversion will
be determined by reference to the average market price of an Ordinary
Share for 40 business days prior to conversion, or the takeover offer
price (as the case may be).

The non-executive Directors do not have service contracts but have
letters of appointment for an initial period of three years, which may
be renewed by mutual agreement, normally for a maximum of two
further three year terms. The terms of appointment do not contain
any contractual provisions regarding a notice period or the right to
receive compensation in the event of early termination.
Details of the Directors’ contracts and letters of appointment are as
set out below.
Executive Directors

The increase in shareholder value is calculated as the difference
between the market capitalisation at conversion (determined by
reference to the average market price of an Ordinary Share for
40 business days prior to conversion, or the offer price (as the case
may be)), and the net invested capital in Melrose PLC, being the
aggregate of the amounts paid on the Ordinary Shares up to
conversion less all amounts paid by Melrose PLC by way of dividends
or other distributions in respect of those shares, and where each such
amount shall be adjusted in line with the movement in the RPI
(plus 2 per cent per annum) from July 2007 up to the month prior to
the relevant trigger date.
As at 31 December 2007 the fair value attributable to the 2007
Incentive Shares (including those held by the Employee Benefit Trust)
was calculated as £3.1 million. £2.7 million of this amount was
attributable to the executive Directors. Details of the Directors’
beneficial interest in the 2007 Incentive Shares are shown in the table
of Directors’ shareholdings later in this report.
All options over Original Incentive Shares were exercised on
14 August 2007 resulting in the 293 Original Incentive Shares held
by the Employee Benefit Trust converting into 25,279 Ordinary Shares
after the share consolidation exercise. The Employee Benefit Trust
also holds 3,000 2007 Incentive Shares and in due course may grant
options over these shares to executive Directors and/or senior
employees. The period during which the options may be exercised is
as detailed above for the 2007 Incentive Shares.
Pension
No Director is a member of any Group pension arrangement. The
executive Directors may elect to receive a Company contribution to
their individual pension arrangement, or a supplement to basic salary
in lieu of a pension arrangement. Company contributions are
calculated on base salary only.
Service contracts
The Company’s policy on Directors’ service contracts is that, in line
with the best practice provisions of the Combined Code, they should
be terminable by the Company on one year’s notice, and Directors’
contracts do not provide for predetermined compensation in the
event of termination. Any payments made would be determined by
reference to normal contractual principles with mitigation being
applied as appropriate.

Date of contract

Notice period

15 October 2003
15 October 2003
15 October 2003
5 December 2005

12 months
12 months
12 months
12 months

Non-executive Directors

Letter of appointment

End of period
of appointment

Miles Templeman
Perry Crosthwaite
John Grant

18 December 2006
29 November 2005
30 June 2006

27 October 2009
25 July 2008
31 July 2009

Christopher Miller
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin

Total shareholder return
The Ordinary Share capital of Melrose PLC was admitted to the
Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange on
9 December 2005.
The performance of the Company’s Ordinary Shares compared with
the FTSE All Share Index and the FTSE Industrial Engineering Index for
the year ended on 31 December 2007 is shown in the graph below.
Melrose return
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The Total Shareholder Return graph shows the value as at December
2007 of £100 invested in Melrose PLC in December 2005 (the month
when the Company was admitted to the Official List of the London
Stock Exchange), compared with £100 invested in the FTSE All Share
Index and the Industrial Engineering Sector. The FTSE All Share Index
applies for the period being tracked and has been used for these
purposes. The shareholder return has been adjusted to reflect the
return of capital to shareholders and the one for two share
consolidation, both of which took place during August 2007.
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Remuneration report continued

Non-executive Directors’ fees
The executive Directors are responsible for proposing the non-executive Directors’ fees. In proposing such fees they take account of similar fees
paid to non-executive Directors in listed companies within the Group’s listing sector and of similar size. Any decision on fee changes is taken by
the Board as a whole. Individual non-executive Directors do not take part in discussion on their remuneration.
Non-executive Directors do not receive benefits or pension contributions from the Group.
Audited information:
Aggregate Directors’ Remuneration
The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration were as follows:
2007

2006

£1,888,578
£177,300

£1,729,524
£165,300

Subtotal
Amounts awarded under LTIP(1)

£2,065,878
£15,817,242

£1,894,824
Nil

Total

£17,883,120

£1,894,824

Emoluments
Money purchase pension contributions

(1)

The remuneration under the long term incentive plan is a non cash payment representing the taxable gain made on the conversion of the Original Incentive Shares as described on page 33.

Directors’ emoluments (including pension contributions)

Directors

Christopher Miller
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin
Miles Templeman(2)
Perry Crosthwaite(3)
John Grant (appointed 1 August 2006)
Total
(1)

(2)
(3)

Pension
contributions(1)

2007
Total
emoluments

2006
Total
emoluments

£18,831
£17,384
£18,019
£28,270
–
–
–

£46,500
£46,500
£46,500
£37,800
–
–
–

£375,331
£554,862
£555,497
£465,188
£40,000
£40,000
£35,000

£351,674
£517,924
£517,027
£425,699
£35,000
£35,000
£12,500

£82,504

£177,300

£2,065,878

£1,894,824

Salary/fees

Bonus

Taxable benefits

£310,000
£310,000
£310,000
£252,000
£40,000
£40,000
£35,000

–
£180,978
£180,978
£147,118
–
–
–

£1,297,000

£509,074

Of the £177,300 pension contributions, £93,000 is paid as a supplement to basic salary in lieu of pension arrangements for those directors whose pension is expected to exceed the
lifetime allowance. The balance of £84,300 is paid into the individual director’s nominated private pension scheme.
Includes £5,000 per annum in recognition of Chairmanship of the Audit and Nomination Committees.
Includes £5,000 per annum in recognition of Chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee.

Directors’ shareholdings
Ordinary Shares
The Directors’ beneficial interests, including interests of connected persons (within the meaning of section 346 of the Act), in the Ordinary Shares
of the Company at the end of the financial year are shown below. None of the Directors had any non-beneficial interest at any time in the financial
year. None of the Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had any beneficial interest in the shares of other Group Companies.
Number of
Ordinary Shares
of 0.2p of
Melrose PLC(1)

Number of Ordinary Shares of 0.1p of Melrose PLC

Director

Christopher Miller(2)
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin
Miles Templeman
Perry Crosthwaite
John Grant
(1)
(2)

1 January 2007

Received on
conversion of
Original Incentive
Shares on
14 August 2007

Total
14 August 2007

31 December
2007

4,950,000
750,000
521,206
100,000
83,522
150,000
Nil

2,654,928
2,654,928
2,654,928
1,123,160
255,036
Nil
Nil

7,604,928
3,404,928
3,176,134
1,223,160
338,558
150,000
Nil

3,802,464
1,702,464
1,588,067
611,580
169,279
75,000
Nil

Ordinary Shares of 0.1p each were consolidated on 15 August 2007 into Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each in the ratio of one new Ordinary Share for two existing Ordinary Shares.
The interest of Mr Christopher Miller includes 2,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.2p (during 2006 and prior to the Ordinary Share capital consolidation: 4,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.1p)
held by Harris & Sheldon Investments Limited, a company which is connected with Mr Christopher Miller within the meaning of the Companies Act 2006.
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Incentive Shares
In addition the Directors had a beneficial interest in, and/or held options over, the Original Incentive Shares and 2007 Incentive Shares of £1.00
each of Melrose PLC at 31 December 2007 as follows:
Number of Original Incentive Shares and options
of Melrose PLC

Number of 2007 Incentive Shares
of Melrose PLC

Director

1 January
2007

Converted to
Ordinary Shares
14 August
2007

31 December
2007

1 January
2007

Issued
14 August
2007

31 December
2007

Christopher Miller
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin
Miles Templeman
Perry Crosthwaite
John Grant

15,386
15,386
15,386
6,509
1,478
Nil
Nil

15,386
15,386
15,386
6,509
1,478
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

12,000
12,000
12,000
7,500
Nil
Nil
Nil

12,000
12,000
12,000
7,500
Nil
Nil
Nil

Included in the Directors’ interests set out above at 1 January 2007 were options granted on 10 May 2006 over 6,509 Original Incentive Shares
granted to Mr Geoffrey Martin and options over 592 Original Incentive Shares granted to each of Mr Christopher Miller, Mr David Roper and
Mr Simon Peckham at an exercise price of £1 per share. No further options over Original Incentive Shares were granted between 1 January 2007
and 14 August 2007.
The Remuneration Committee recommended, in the context of the disposal of McKechnie Aerospace and the return of capital to shareholders,
that it was appropriate for all options over the Original Incentive Shares to be exercised during 2007. This was approved by shareholders at the
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 14 August 2007 and subsequently these options were exercised on 14 August 2007 at an exercise
price of £1.
There were no options over 2007 Incentive Shares outstanding as at 31 December 2007.
Gains arising on Original Incentive Shares
Upon conversion of the Original Incentive Shares and Original Incentive Share options on 14 August the following gains arose:
A

Director

Christopher Miller
David Roper
Simon Peckham
Geoffrey Martin
Miles Templeman
(1)

(2)

Date of
conversion

Number
of existing
options/shares

B
Option
exercise price/
price paid per
Incentive Share
at subscription

14 Aug 2007
14 Aug 2007
14 Aug 2007
14 Aug 2007
14 Aug 2007

15,386
15,386
15,386
6,509
1,478

100p
100p
100p
100p
100p

C
Number of
Ordinary Shares
arising upon
conversion on
14 August

2,654,928
2,654,928
2,654,928
1,123,160
255,036

D

(CxD)-(AxB)

Market price on
15 August(1)

169.875p
169.875p
169.875p
169.875p
169.875p

Gain(2)

£4,494,673
£4,494,673
£4,494,673
£1,901,459
£431,764

The market value of 169.875p was determined on 15 August 2007 which was the first day that the Ordinary Shares arising from the conversion of the Original Incentive Shares
started trading.
The total gain attributable to Directors arising on the Original Incentive Shares is £15,817,242.

Following the early exercise of options over Original Incentive Shares and early conversion of Original Incentive Shares into Ordinary Shares of
0.1p each (the “Incentive Share Conversion”), each of the Directors agreed to enter into a lock-in undertaking with the Company, whereby they
undertook not to sell, transfer or in any way dispose of the Ordinary Shares acquired as a result of the Incentive Share Conversion before
31 May 2009, or if earlier, on the takeover of the Company. The share price on the date of conversion used in the above table was £1.69875
and the share price as of 31 December 2007 was £1.58.
This report was approved by the Board on 5 March 2008 and signed on its behalf by

PERRY CROSTHWAITE
CHAIRMAN OF THE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
5 March 2008
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
Directors’ Remuneration report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. The Directors are required by the International
Accounting Standard (IAS) Regulation to prepare the Group financial
statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union. The Group financial statements
are also required by law to be properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors have elected to prepare the parent company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law). The parent company financial statements are
required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors
are required to:
■

■
■

IAS 1 requires that IFRS financial statements present fairly for each
financial year the Company’s financial position, financial performance
and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects
of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the
definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and
expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s
Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial
statement. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be
achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, Directors
are also required to:
■
■

■

properly select and apply accounting policies;
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information; and
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.
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■

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the parent
company financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditors’ report

Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of Melrose PLC
on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Melrose PLC for
the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash
flow statement, the consolidated statement of recognised income and
expense and the related notes 1 to 30. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration report that is described as having been audited.
We have reported separately on the parent Company financial
statements of Melrose PLC for the year ended 31 December 2007.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration report and the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view, whether the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and whether
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report described as having been
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information
given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements. The information given in the Directors’ report includes that
specific information presented in the Business review, Chief Executive’s
review and Finance Director’s review that is cross referred from the
Business review section of the Directors’ report.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received
all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and
other transactions is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all
risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as
described in the contents section and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
consolidated financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend
to any further information outside the Annual Report.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the
Directors in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, and
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the consolidated financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the consolidated financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
■ the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its
profit for the year then ended;
■ the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation;
■ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report described as having
been audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985; and
■ the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements.
Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs
As explained in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group in addition to complying with its legal obligation to comply with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also complied with the
IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS AND REGISTERED AUDITORS
London, United Kingdom
5 March 2008
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Consolidated income statement

Notes

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Restated(3)
Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

344.0
(280.1)

323.6
(265.1)

63.9

58.5

6

(39.4)
(2.0)
(4.9)
1.1

(39.3)
(2.1)
(5.9)
0.7

4, 5

Gross profit
Net operating expenses before exceptional items and intangible asset amortisation
Intangible asset amortisation(1)
Exceptional costs
Exceptional income

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

(1)

6

Total net operating expenses

7

(45.2)

(46.6)

Operating profit

5

18.7

11.9

Headline operating profit(2)

5

24.5

19.2

Finance costs
Finance income

7
7

(4.3)
6.8

(7.3)
0.2

8

21.2
(5.6)

4.8
(1.6)

15.6

3.2

199.4

34.6

215.0

37.8

214.8
0.2

37.7
0.1

215.0

37.8

7.4p
7.2p

1.2p
1.2p

102.1p
99.2p

14.7p
14.4p

Profit before tax
Tax
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations

9

Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests
Earnings per share
From continuing operations
– Basic
– Diluted
From continuing and discontinued operations
– Basic
– Diluted
(1)
(2)

(3)

25
25

11
11
11
11

Other than computer software amortisation.
The terms “headline operating profit”, “headline profit before tax” and “headline earnings per share” have the same definition as operating profit, profit before tax and earnings per share
respectively except that they are calculated before exceptional costs, exceptional income and intangible asset amortisation other than computer software.
Prior periods have been restated to separate the results of continuing and discontinued operations.
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

Notes

Currency translation on net investments in subsidiary undertakings
Gains on cash flow hedges
Actuarial adjustments on net pension liabilities
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity
Transferred to income statement on cash flow hedges
Transfer to income statement from equity of cumulative translation
differences on discontinued operations
Profit for the year

25
25
23, 25

25
25

Total recognised income and expense for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

25

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

3.7
1.1
3.5

(41.4)
1.4
1.2

8.3
(2.1)

(38.8)
(1.4)

22.0
215.0

–
37.8

243.2

(2.4)

243.0
0.2

(2.5)
0.1

243.2

(2.4)
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Consolidated balance sheet

Notes

Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in joint ventures
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax assets

12
13
14
24
21

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and short term deposits

15
16
17

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

59.3
90.7
33.3

77.9
8.1
7.8
3.5

104.8
1.0
8.8
2.9

23
20

97.3

117.5

45.8

65.8

13.1
8.1
25.2
3.5

194.9
18.6
55.4
11.2

49.9

280.1

147.2

397.6

267.5

255.1

25

58.3
–
37.0
154.6
2.2
14.2

0.3
214.6
42.0
–
(22.5)
19.7

25

266.3
1.2

254.1
1.0

267.5

255.1

5

25
25
25
25
25

Total equity
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 March 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:
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29.7
67.0
46.4

18

19

SIMON PECKHAM
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

469.4

183.3

Net assets

GEOFFREY MARTIN
GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR

271.6

652.7

21

Equity attributable to holders of the parent
Minority interest

356.2
79.4
2.6
1.4
29.8

414.7

Net current assets

Equity
Issued share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Hedging and translation reserves
Accumulated profits

207.4
60.7
–
0.4
3.1

143.1

20

Total liabilities

31 December
2006
£m

5

19

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions

31 December
2007
£m
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Notes

Net cash from operating activities for continuing operations
Net cash from operating activities for discontinued operations

26
26

Net cash from operating activities
Investing activities
Disposal of businesses
Net cash disposed
Lump sum contribution to pension plan
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of computer software
Interest received
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Net cash from investing activities for continuing operations
Net cash used in investing activities for discontinued operations

26

Net cash from investing activities

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

14.1
1.3

9.7
23.6

15.4

33.3

446.7
(5.8)
(20.0)
(15.5)
0.4
(0.5)
7.1
(8.7)

7.4
–
–
(11.7)
9.9
–
–
–

403.7
(2.6)

5.6
(5.6)

401.1

Financing activities
Repayment of borrowings
Repayment of working capital facility
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Dividends paid
Loan notes repaid
Capital distribution
Issue of 2007 Incentive Shares
Net cash used in financing activities for continuing operations
Net cash from financing activities for discontinued operations

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

26

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

26

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

–

(179.0)
–
(0.3)
(13.0)
–
(212.6)
0.1

–
(3.0)
(0.3)
(13.5)
(0.5)
–
–

(404.8)
0.3

(17.3)
2.7

(404.5)

(14.6)

26

12.0
33.3
1.1

18.7
15.2
(0.6)

26

46.4

33.3

26
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Notes to the accounts

1 Corporate information

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of Melrose PLC for the year
ended 31 December 2007 were authorised in accordance with a
resolution of the Directors of Melrose PLC on 5 March 2008.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and UK law. The
financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs
adopted for use in the European Union and therefore comply with
Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

Melrose PLC is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under
the Companies Act 1985. The address of the registered office is given
on page 86. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal
activities are set out in note 5.
These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because
that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company is based. Foreign operations are included in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2.
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following
Standards and Interpretations are in issue but not yet effective:
Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of financial statement – a revised
presentation
Amendments to IAS 23: Borrowing costs
Amendments to IFRS 2: Vesting conditions and cancellations
Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1: Instruments puttable at fair value
Revised IFRS 3: Business combinations
Revised IAS 27: Consolidated and separate financial statements
IFRS 8: Operating segments
IFRIC 12: Service concession arrangements
IFRIC 13: Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC 11: IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions
IFRIC 14: IAS 19 – Limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction
In the current year the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2007, and the consequential amendments to
IFRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The effect of the adoption
of IFRS 7 is to expand the disclosures provided in the financial
statements of the Group’s financial instruments and management of
capital, as detailed in note 24. IFRS 8 Operating Segments, IFRIC 11,
IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions and IFRIC 12 Service
Concession Arrangements were in issue at the date of authorisation of
the financial statements but not yet effective. IFRS 8 affects only
disclosures and therefore has no material impact on the financial
statements of the Group. IFRIC 11 will have no impact on the Group’s
financial statements but will affect the accounting by the Company for
share options it grants to the employees of its subsidiaries. IFRIC 12
relates to the accounting for service concession arrangements.
However, IFRIC 12 is not yet endorsed for use in the European Union.
The European Commission is currently preparing an effect study and
an endorsement decision is expected by mid 2008.
The comparative information has been restated to show more
appropriate allocation of results following the disposal of the Aerospace
OEM (“OEM”), the Aerospace Aftermarket (“Aftermarket”), part of the
PSM division and the US corporate centre and classification of these
divisions as discontinued operations.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a historical cost basis. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in pound sterling and accounting policies adopted are
consistent with prior year.
Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements include the results of the parent
undertaking and all its subsidiary undertakings. The results of
businesses acquired during the period are included from the effective
date of acquisition and of those sold during the period to the effective
date of disposal.
Where Group accounting policies are not adopted in the financial
statements of subsidiary undertakings, appropriate adjustments are
made in the Group financial statements.
All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full.
Business combinations and goodwill
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of acquisition is measured as the cash paid, and the
fair value of other assets given, and liabilities incurred or assumed at
the date of exchange and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. The acquired identifiable assets and liabilities are
measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of
acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired
(ie. discount on acquisition) is credited to the income statement in the
period of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Business combinations and goodwill continued
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of
the cash-generating units acquired. Impairment is determined by
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
When there is a disposal of a cash generating unit, goodwill relating to
the operation disposed of is taken into account in determining the gain
or loss on disposal of that operation. The amount of goodwill allocated
to a partial disposal is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the operation retained.
Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity which is not a subsidiary undertaking but in
which the interest of the Group is that of a partner in a joint venture
over which the Group exercises joint control. The results, assets and
liabilities of joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting.
Exceptional costs/income
Exceptional costs/income are those costs/income of a significant and
non-recurring nature or those associated with significant restructuring
programmes.
Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging exceptional costs, crediting
exceptional income, profit on disposal of businesses and after the share
of results of joint ventures but before finance income and finance costs.
Revenue
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be reliably
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods
provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, customs
duties and sales taxes.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Issue costs of loans
The finance cost recognised in the income statement in respect of
capital instruments is allocated to periods over the terms of the
instrument at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting practice requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ
from those estimates.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment in value.
The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction
cost, and any costs directly attributable to bring the asset into operation.
The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid
and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.
The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included within property,
plant and equipment.
For property, the deemed cost as at the date of transition to IFRS was
the fair value at the date of the last valuation of these assets less
accumulated depreciation until the date of transition.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the asset as follows:
Freehold land

nil

Freehold buildings and
long leasehold property

over expected economic life not
exceeding 50 years

Short leasehold property

over the term of the lease

Plant and other equipment

3-12 years

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed on an annual basis and, if necessary, changes in useful lives
are accounted for prospectively.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and
where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount,
the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that
does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs and allocated proportionately.
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Property, plant and equipment continued
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.
On acquisition of businesses, separately identifiable intangible assets
are determined in relation to the specific circumstances of the business
acquired and are valued on an appropriate basis.
Access to the use of patented technology and trade names are valued
using a “relief from royalty” method which determines the net present
value of future additional cash flows arising from the use of the
intangible asset.
Customer relationships are valued on the basis of the net present value
of the future additional cash flows arising from customer relationships
with appropriate allowance for attrition of customers.
The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are:
Patented technology
Customer relationships
Trade names

5 years or less
10 years or less
20 years or less

Computer software is initially recorded at cost. Where these assets have
been acquired through a business combination, this will be the fair
value allocated in the acquisition accounting. Where these have been
acquired other than through a business combination, the initial cost is
the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other
consideration given to acquire the asset.
Computer software assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives (up to five years) on a straight line basis.
As with property, plant and equipment, intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually or more frequently whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Impairment losses are measured on a similar basis to
property, plant and equipment. Useful lives are also examined on an
annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a
prospective basis.
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Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred.
Clearly defined and identifiable development projects in which the
technical degree of exploitation, adequacy of resources and potential
market or development possibility in the undertaking are recognisable,
and where it is the intention to produce, market or execute the project,
are capitalised when a correlation exists between the costs incurred
and future benefits and the costs can be measured reliably. Costs not
meeting such criteria are expensed as incurred.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes all direct expenditure and appropriate production
overhead expenditure incurred in bringing goods to their current state
under normal operating conditions. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling price less costs expected to be incurred to completion
and disposal. Provision has been made for obsolescence or other losses
where necessary.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice
amount less an allowance for doubtful debts. An allowance is recorded
for the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount.
Cash and cash equivalent
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash in
hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions and shortterm deposits with an original maturity of three months or less which are
subject to insignificant risks of changes in value.
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair
value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with
the borrowings.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.
Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the
inception of the lease at the fair value of the lease or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly against income.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure
to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, arising from operating
and financing activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. Details of derivative financial
instruments are disclosed in note 24 of the financial statements.
Movements on the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in note 25.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value.
Their fair value is recalculated at each reporting date. The accounting
treatment for the resulting gain or loss will depend on whether the
derivative qualifies for hedge accounting.

Hedge accounting
In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to
document from inception the relationship between the item being
hedged and the hedging instrument. The Group is also required to
document and demonstrate the relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, showing that the hedge will be highly
effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing is performed at
each period end to ensure that the hedge remains highly effective.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedge instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, as either fair
value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in
foreign operations.
Fair value hedge
Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges when
they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
income statement immediately, together with any changes in the fair
value of the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk.
Cash flow hedge
Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when
they hedge the Group’s exposure to the variability in cash flows that are
either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or
liability, or a highly probable forecasted cash flow.
The effective portion of any gain or loss from revaluing the derivative
financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
income statement as part of other income or other expense.
Amounts deferred in equity are recycled to the income statement in the
periods when the hedged item is recognised in the income statement.
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains
and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or
losses on the revaluation to fair value at the period end is recognised
immediately in the income statement. Where derivatives qualify for
hedge accounting, recognition of any resulting gain or loss on
revaluation depends on the nature of the hedge relationship and the
item being hedged.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges
when they hedge the Group’s net investment in foreign operations.
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from
revaluing the derivative at a reporting period end is recognised directly
in equity. Any ineffective element is recognised immediately in the
income statement.

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of less than one
year from the Balance Sheet date are classified as current in the
Balance Sheet.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are recognised immediately in
the income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain is the expense relating to any provision
presented in the income statement, net of any reimbursement. If the
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and,
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.
Environmental liabilities
Liabilities for environmental costs are recognised when environmental
assessments or clean-ups are probable and the associated costs can
be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these provisions
coincides with the commitment to a formal plan of action. The amount
recognised is the best estimate of the expenditure required. Where the
liability will not be settled for a number of years, the amount recognised
is the present value of the estimated future expenditure.
Employee Benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses, social security contributions, paid annual leave
and sick leave are accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group. The accounting policy for
pensions and other post-retirement benefits is described below.
The Group also operates divisional long term incentive plans (LTIPs) for
certain employees. The expected settlement costs of these plans are
expensed on a straight line basis over the life of the Plan.
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes and defined
contribution schemes, which require contributions to be made to
administered funds separate from the Group. In some jurisdictions,
funds are not administered separately from the Group but appropriate
liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.
For the defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit plans, plan
assets are measured at fair value and plan liabilities are measured on
an actuarial basis, using the projected unit credit method and
discounted at an interest rate equivalent to the current rate of return on
a high quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the
Plan liabilities.
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The service cost of providing pension and other post-retirement
benefits to employees for the period is charged to the income
statement. The cost of making improvements to pension and other
post-retirement benefits is recognised in the income statement on a
straight line basis over the period during which the increase in benefits
vests. To the extent that the improvement in benefits vests
immediately, the cost is recognised immediately. These costs are
recognised as an expense.
A charge representing the unwinding of the discount on the Plan
liabilities during the period is included within other finance costs.
A credit representing the expected return on the Plan assets during the
period is included within other finance costs. This credit is based on the
market value of the Plan assets, and expected rates of return, at the
beginning of the year.
Actuarial gains and losses may result from: differences between the
expected return and the actual return on plan assets; differences
between the actuarial assumptions underlying the Plan liabilities and
actual experience during the period; or changes in the actuarial
assumptions used in the valuation of the Plan liabilities. Actuarial gains
and losses, and taxation thereon, are recognised in the statement of
recognised income and expense.
For defined contribution plans, contributions payable for the year are
charged to the income statement as an operating expense.
Foreign currency translation
The individual financial statements of each Group company are
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of
each Group company are expressed in pound sterling, which is the
functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for
the consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Nonmonetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Foreign currency translation continued
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the income statement
for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items carried at fair value are included in the income statement
for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.
In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the
Group enters into forward contracts and options (see above for details of
the Group’s accounting policies in respect of such derivative financial
instruments).
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated at
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in
which the operation is disposed of.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate.
Taxation
Tax expense represents the sum of the tax paid or currently payable
and deferred tax.
The tax expense is based on the taxable profits for the period. Taxable
profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences:

■

■

except where the deferred tax liability arises on goodwill that is not
tax deductible or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and carry-forward
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:
■

■

except where the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.
Tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity
and not in the income statement.
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of
sales tax except:
■

■

where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of goods and services is
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales
tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax
included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
balance sheet.
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payments. The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions.
Fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes model. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

3 Critical accounting judgments
In applying the Group’s accounting policies as set out in note 2,
management has made critical accounting judgements in the
determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired, the
quantification of provisions and the impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making
assumptions and estimates, actual outcomes will differ from those
assumptions and estimates. An analysis of the key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year is provided below.
Provisions
The quantification of certain liabilities within provisions (for
environmental remediation obligations and for future legal costs in
relation to certain claims) have been estimated. However, such liabilities
depend on the actions of third parties and on the specific circumstances
pertaining to each obligation, neither of which is controlled by the Group.
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Impairment of non-current assets
Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts might be
impaired and at least annually. Such events and circumstances include
the effects of restructuring initiated by management.
To determine whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires management to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cashgenerating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present
value. The carrying amount of intangible assets at the balance sheet
date was £207.4m (2006: £356.2m). At 31 December 2007, the
Group recognised no impairment loss in respect of these assets but
impairment losses could arise if changes are necessary to the
assumptions underlying the estimates in future cash flows of cash
generating units or if there are changes in market interest rates which
affect the discount rates applied to the cash flow.
Retirement benefit obligations
In assessing the Group’s obligations relating to retirement benefits,
management made key assumptions relating to current and future
mortality, expected returns on plan assets, discount rates and inflation.
Intangible assets
The valuation of intangible assets in respect of customer relations
requires management to estimate the additional future cash flows
arising from those relationships after eliminating attrition factor
(“customer churn”) relevant to the customer relationship and to other
factors such as access to the workforce, which were appropriate to the
determination of the additional cash flows.
Fair values at acquisition
On the acquisitions of the two businesses in Canada, Dynacast
management have made assumptions regarding the fair value of assets
and liabilities acquired in conjunction with professional advisors and
have applied hindsight where appropriate to the circumstances of
particular assets/liabilities. Estimations were made, in particular, of
intangible assets, plant and equipment, deferred tax liabilities, inventory
and provisions.
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4 Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

344.0
6.8
1.1

323.6
0.2
0.7

351.9

324.5

67.3
–

183.4
2.3

Revenue from discontinued operations

67.3

185.7

Total Revenue as defined by IAS 18

419.2

510.2

Notes

Continuing operations
Sale of goods
Interest income
Exceptional income

5
7
6

Revenue from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Sales
Exceptional income

5, 9
6

5 Segment information
The Group’s primary reporting format is business segments and its secondary reporting format is geographical segments. The operating businesses
are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic
business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. All reported revenue is derived from one activity, the sale of goods.
During the period, the Group discontinued its operations in the OEM, Aftermarket, part of the PSM division and the US corporate centre segments.
The Dynacast segment is a supplier of die-cast parts and components to a range of industries. McKechnie Vehicle Components (“MVC”) supplies
exterior trim products to major vehicle manufacturers in the USA. McKechnie Plastic Components (“MPC”) is a UK supplier of plastic injection
moulded and extruded components to the automotive, consumer durable, IT and other industries. The McKechnie PSM (“PSM”) continuing
segment consists of the specialised Prelok and Canning Brett businesses and is now included in the MPC segment for reporting purposes.
Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
The Group’s geographical segments are determined by the location of the Group’s assets and operations. Inter segment sales are not material and
have not been included in the analysis below.
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Notes to the accounts continued

5 Segment information continued
The following table presents revenue, headline operating profit information (which the Directors believe is the best indicator of performance),
operating profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s business segments for the year ended 31 December 2007.
note 6 gives details of exceptional costs and income.
Headline operating profit/(loss)(2)

Revenue
Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Continuing operations
Dynacast
MVC
MPC
Central – corporate
Central – LTIPs(1)

235.9
55.4
52.7
–
–

221.7
48.0
53.9
–
–

28.9
(0.5)
3.9
(5.8)
(2.0)

25.1
(2.3)
3.0
(5.5)
(1.1)

25.6
(2.2)
3.9
(4.7)
(3.9)

19.5
(2.5)
1.5
(5.5)
(1.1)

Continuing operations total

344.0

323.6

24.5

19.2

18.7

11.9

Discontinued operations
OEM
Aftermarket
PSM discontinued
Central discontinued

53.7
5.2
8.4
–

140.1
19.3
24.0
–

11.9
0.1
1.4
(0.4)

33.1
0.6
4.2
(1.0)

10.9
0.1
1.4
(0.4)

30.8
4.2
3.7
(1.4)

Discontinued operations total

67.3

183.4

13.0

36.9

12.0

37.3

411.3

507.0

37.5

56.1

30.7

49.2

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Business segments

Total
(1)
(2)

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Operating profit/(loss)

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Long term incentive plans
As defined on the income statement
Total assets
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Total liabilities

Continuing operations
Dynacast
MVC
MPC
Central – corporate
Central – LTIPs(1)

322.9
32.4
31.5
27.9
–

308.9
35.7
32.2
(4.6)
–

80.7
11.7
11.1
42.2
1.5

74.9
12.1
13.0
165.5
1.5

Continuing operations total

414.7

372.2

147.2

267.0

Discontinued operations
OEM
Aftermarket
PSM discontinued
Central discontinued

–
–
–
–

217.9
7.2
34.4
21.0

–
–
–
–

32.5
1.8
5.7
90.6

Discontinued operations total

–

280.5

–

130.6

414.7

652.7

147.2

397.6

Total
(1)

Long term incentive plans

Following the disposal of OEM, Aftermarket, part of the PSM division and US corporate centre, certain central assets relating to those businesses
were disposed of, leaving a central overdraft in excess of central assets in the prior year. This is shown as a negative asset in the table above in
accordance with IAS 14.
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5 Segment information continued

Depreciation and computer
software amortisation

Capital expenditure
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

5.4
7.8
2.8
–

6.9
3.3
1.5
–

6.8
1.9
1.6
0.1

7.0
1.8
2.1
0.1

Continuing operations total

16.0

11.7

10.4

11.0

Discontinued operations
OEM
Aftermarket
PSM discontinued

2.6
–
0.1

6.9
0.1
1.0

1.2
–
0.2

2.8
0.1
0.7

Business segments continued
Continuing operations
Dynacast
MVC
MPC
Central – corporate

Discontinued operations total
Total

2.7

8.0

1.4

3.6

18.7

19.7

11.8

14.6

Headline operating profit/(loss)(2)

Revenue
Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Continuing operations
North America
Europe
Asia
Central – corporate
Central – LTIPs(1)

132.3
155.2
56.5
–
–

127.0
146.3
50.3
–
–

7.3
18.5
6.5
(5.8)
(2.0)

3.6
16.6
5.6
(5.5)
(1.1)

3.2
17.6
6.5
(4.7)
(3.9)

(1.3)
14.2
5.6
(5.5)
(1.1)

Continuing operations total

344.0

323.6

24.5

19.2

18.7

11.9

Discontinued operations
North America
Europe
Asia
Central

41.0
21.1
5.2
–

109.1
59.8
14.5
–

10.7
1.8
0.9
(0.4)

27.7
6.7
3.5
(1.0)

9.7
1.8
0.9
(0.4)

26.0
8.8
3.5
(1.0)

Discontinued operations total

67.3

183.4

13.0

36.9

12.0

37.3

411.3

507.0

37.5

56.1

30.7

49.2

Geographical area

Total
(1)
(2)

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Operating profit/(loss)

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Long term incentive plans
As defined on the income statement

Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007 49

08_1022_Melrose_R&A:12736_Melrose_RA

27/3/08

10:52

Page 50

Notes to the accounts continued

5 Segment information continued

Geographical area continued

Total assets
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Total liabilities

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Continuing operations
North America
Europe
Asia
Central – corporate
Central – LTIPs(1)

188.5
157.2
41.1
27.9
–

183.5
156.9
36.4
(4.6)
–

39.1
49.3
15.1
42.2
1.5

36.2
50.1
13.7
165.5
1.5

Continuing operations total

414.7

372.2

147.2

267.0

–
–
–
–

172.8
57.6
29.1
21.0

–
–
–
–

23.3
12.6
4.1
90.6

–

280.5

–

130.6

414.7

652.7

147.2

397.6

Discontinued operations
North America
Europe
Asia
Central
Discontinued operations total
Total
(1)

Long term incentive plans
Depreciation and computer
software amortisation

Capital expenditure
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

8.8
5.1
2.1
–

5.2
4.2
2.3
–

4.3
4.6
1.4
0.1

4.4
5.1
1.4
0.1

Continuing operations total

16.0

11.7

10.4

11.0

Discontinued operations
North America
Europe
Asia

1.7
0.9
0.1

5.5
1.6
0.9

0.7
0.5
0.2

1.7
1.5
0.4

Discontinued operations total

2.7

8.0

1.4

3.6

18.7

19.7

11.8

14.6

Continuing operations
North America
Europe
Asia
Central – corporate

Total
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6 Exceptional costs and income
Exceptional costs
Other operating costs

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Continuing operations
Dynacast restructure
MVC “old” nickel plater impairment
Crystallisation of Melrose Original Incentive Scheme
MPC restructure

(1.5)
(1.5)
(1.9)
–

(3.7)
–
–
(2.2)

Total other operating costs – continuing

(4.9)

(5.9)

Discontinued operations
Pre-disposal expenses

–

(2.0)

Total other operating costs – discontinued

–

(2.0)

Total other operating costs

(4.9)

(7.9)

The Dynacast restructuring costs in 2007 relate mainly to the acquisitions of Techmire and QZD in Canada. The Dynacast restructuring costs in
2006 related to the closure of the Spartanburg, South Carolina, USA manufacturing facility.
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the old plater was replaced at MVC and as a result an impairment against the carrying value of the asset
was made.
On 14 August 2007, the Shareholders approved the early crystallisation of the Melrose Original Incentive Scheme resulting in an accelerated IFRS 2
charge and associated National Insurance charge.
The MPC restructure costs related to the closure of the Northampton manufacturing facility in 2006.
The pre-disposal costs in 2006 related to the sale of divisions which were completed in 2007.
Exceptional income
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Continuing operations
Pension curtailment gain
Profit on disposal of land and buildings

1.1
–

–
0.7

Total other operating income – continuing

1.1

0.7

Discontinued operations
Onerous contract provision release

–

2.3

Total other operating income – discontinued

–

2.3

1.1

3.0

Other operating income

Total other operating income

Following the disposal of the OEM division, all employees in this segment belonging to the McKechnie UK defined benefit pension plan became
deferred members. The curtailment gain associated with this was £1.1 million.
During the year ended 31 December 2006, land and buildings held in the MPC business segment were sold in a sale and leaseback transaction
resulting in a net profit of £0.7 million.
Upon acquisition of the McKechnie Group in May 2005, an onerous contract was identified and appropriate provision was made based on the
circumstances prevailing at acquisition. During 2006, the terms of the contract were renegotiated and the improved terms of the contract were
reflected in the accounts resulting in a release to the income statement of £2.3 million.
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Notes to the accounts continued

7 Revenues and Expenses

Net operating expenses comprise:

Continuing operations
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Discontinued operations

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Total
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Selling and distribution costs
Administration expenses
Share of joint ventures operating profits
Other operating costs – exceptional (note 6)
Other operating income – exceptional (note 6)
Profit on disposal of businesses

(14.3)
(27.1)
–
(4.9)
1.1
–

(13.1)
(28.3)
–
(5.9)
0.7
–

(4.0)
(5.3)
0.2
–
–
–

(11.9)
(14.4)
0.8
(2.0)
2.3
3.2

(18.3)
(32.4)
0.2
(4.9)
1.1
–

(25.0)
(42.7)
0.8
(7.9)
3.0
3.2

Total net operating expenses

(45.2)

(46.6)

(9.1)

(22.0)

(54.3)

(68.6)

Continuing operations

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation
Cost of inventories
Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Amortisation of computer software
Operating lease expense
Staff costs (see below)
Research and development costs
Disposal of businesses (note 9)

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

10.3
278.5
1.6
2.0
0.1
2.4
83.6
–
–

10.9
264.5
0.6
2.1
0.1
2.7
83.8
–
–

Discontinued operations
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

1.3
46.2
–
1.0
0.1
0.2
19.3
0.2
(191.6)

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

3.3
123.1
1.0
3.1
0.3
0.7
52.5
0.8
(3.2)

Total
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

11.6
324.7
1.6
3.0
0.2
2.6
102.9
0.2
(191.6)

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

14.2
387.6
1.6
5.2
0.4
3.4
136.3
0.8
(3.2)

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.6

0.8

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Tax services
Corporate finance services

0.6
0.6

0.8
1.1

Total non-audit fees

1.2

1.9

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation
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7 Revenues and Expenses continued

Staff costs during the period (including Directors):
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs
– defined benefit plans (note 23)
– defined contribution schemes
Total continuing costs

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

75.6
7.1

76.2
6.7

0.4
0.5

0.4
0.5

83.6

83.8

19.3

52.5

102.9

136.3

Year ended
31 December
2007
Number

Year ended
31 December
2006
Number

Average number of persons employed
Dynacast
MVC
MPC
Corporate

2,394
488
594
25

2,268
481
577
24

Total continuing businesses

3,501

3,350

OEM
Aftermarket
PSM – discontinued
Corporate

631
10
277
–

1,320
44
654
1

Total discontinued businesses

918

2,019

4,419

5,369

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Discontinued businesses
Total continuing and discontinued costs

Total continuing and discontinued businesses
The average numbers shown above are calculated on a monthly basis.

Finance costs and income
Bank loans and overdrafts
Finance lease expenses
Fair value gain on financial instruments transferred from equity
Finance cost of pensions
Finance costs of Redeemable Preference C Shares
Interest received
Total continuing businesses
Discontinued businesses (note 9)
Total net finance income/(costs)

(5.7)
(0.1)
2.1
(0.4)
(0.2)
6.8

(7.2)
(0.1)
1.4
(1.4)
–
0.2

2.5

(7.1)

(1.7)

(5.1)

0.8

(12.2)

The finance cost of pensions is the net of the interest cost on benefit obligations of £7.4 million and the expected return on Plan assets of £7.0
million (2006: £6.8 million and £5.4 million respectively).

Melrose PLC Annual Report 2007 53

08_1022_Melrose_R&A:12736_Melrose_RA

27/3/08

13:44

Page 54

Notes to the accounts continued

8 Tax

Analysis of charge/(credit) in year:

Continuing operations
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Current tax
Deferred tax (note 21)
Total income tax charge/(credit)
Tax charge on headline operating profit
after finance costs and income
Exceptional tax credits
Tax on net exceptional costs
Tax in respect of intangible asset amortisation
excluding computer software
Total income tax charge/(credit)

Discontinued operations

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Total

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

6.6
(1.0)

4.5
(2.9)

(1.7)
4.2

0.6
(3.0)

4.9
3.2

5.1
(5.9)

5.6

1.6

2.5

(2.4)

8.1

(0.8)

7.2
–
(1.0)

3.5
–
(1.3)

2.8
–
–

8.8
(10.2)
–

10.0
–
(1.0)

12.3
(10.2)
(1.3)

(0.6)

(0.6)

(0.3)

(1.0)

(0.9)

(1.6)

5.6

1.6

2.5

(2.4)

8.1

(0.8)

Of the charge to current tax, approximately £2.5 million (2006: credit of £2.4 million) related to profits arising in the discontinued divisions, which
were disposed of during the year. No tax charge or credit arose on the disposal of the relevant subsidiaries.
The tax for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). The differences are explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at UK corporate tax rate (30%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Adjustment in respect of foreign tax rates
Excess losses (utilised)/not utilised
Deductible items not in profit and loss account
Prior year tax adjustments
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year
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Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

21.2
10.3

4.8
32.2

31.5

37.0

9.5
0.6
0.1
(1.7)
(0.9)
0.5

11.1
0.7
1.6
1.6
(15.0)
(0.8)

8.1

(0.8)
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9 Discontinued operations
On 11 May 2007, the Group disposed of its interest in the McKechnie Aerospace OEM and Aftermarket divisions. Gross proceeds from the sale of
these divisions were £428.0 million and costs incurred during the period were £9.6 million. In addition costs of £1.8 million were incurred in 2006.
On 18 May 2007, the Group disposed of its PSM fastener manufacturing business, which comprised part of the PSM division. Gross proceeds from
this sale were £30.0 million and costs incurred during the period were £1.2 million. In addition, costs of £0.2 million were incurred in 2006.
Details of net assets disposed of and disposal proceeds are as follows:
OEM and
Aftermarket
£m

PSM
Fasteners
£m

Total
£m

Goodwill
Intangible assets
Computer software
Property, plant and equipment
Joint ventures
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash at bank

112.4
23.0
0.9
23.4
0.3
20.8
32.0
25.2
4.3

17.1
–
0.1
2.5
2.6
–
3.3
7.1
1.5

129.5
23.0
1.0
25.9
2.9
20.8
35.3
32.3
5.8

Gross assets disposed of
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations
Post employment benefit obligations
Tax
Deferred tax liability
Provisions

242.3
(20.6)
(2.5)
–
–
(8.6)
(6.9)

34.2
(3.8)
–
(0.2)
(0.3)
–
–

276.5
(24.4)
(2.5)
(0.2)
(0.3)
(8.6)
(6.9)

Gross liability disposed of
Net assets disposed of
Cumulative exchange translation loss recycled on disposals
Profit/(loss) on disposal

(38.6)
203.7
18.2
196.5

(4.3)
29.9
3.8
(4.9)

(42.9)
233.6
22.0
191.6

Consideration net of costs
Cash disposed of

418.4
(4.3)

28.8
(1.5)

447.2
(5.8)

Cash inflow from current year disposals

414.1

27.3

441.4
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9 Discontinued operations continued
Financial performance of discontinued operations:
OEM and
Aftermarket
£m

PSM
Fasteners
£m

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Revenue
Operating costs before exceptional items

58.9
(47.3)

8.4
(7.0)

67.3
(54.3)

183.4
(146.5)

Headline operating profit
Intangible asset amortisation
Reported as exceptional items
Net finance costs

11.6
(1.0)
–
(1.5)

1.4
–
–
(0.2)

13.0
(1.0)
–
(1.7)

36.9
(3.1)
0.3
(5.1)

Profit before tax
Tax (charge)/credit

9.1
(2.2)

1.2
(0.3)

10.3
(2.5)

29.0
2.4

6.9
214.7
(18.2)

0.9
(1.1)
(3.8)

7.8
213.6
(22.0)

31.4
3.2
–

Profit/(loss) on disposal

196.5

(4.9)

191.6

3.2

Profit/(loss) for the year on discontinued operations

203.4

(4.0)

199.4

34.6

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

9.6
3.4
5.7

7.7
5.8
9.6

Profit after income tax from discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) on disposal of net assets of discontinued operations
Cumulative exchange loss

10 Dividends

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 paid of 3.75p (2005: 3p)
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 paid of 2.5p (2006: 2.25p)
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 4.25p (2006: 3.75p)

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these
financial statements.
In addition to dividends paid, shareholders approved a £220.0 million return of capital of which £212.6 million was paid on 31 August 2007.
Further details are disclosed in note 25.

11 Earnings per share
Earnings

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

215.0
(199.4)

37.8
(34.6)

Earnings for basis of earnings per share from continuing operations
Exceptional costs
Exceptional income
Intangible asset amortisation(1)
Tax on exceptional items and other intangible asset amortisation(1)

15.6
4.9
(1.1)
2.0
(1.6)

3.2
5.9
(0.7)
2.1
(1.9)

Earnings for basis of headline earnings per share from continuing operations

19.8

8.6

Number

Number

210.5
6.3

257.1
5.1

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Less profit for the year from discontinued operations (note 9)

(1)

Other than computer software

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share (million)
Further shares for the purposes of fully diluted earnings per share (million)

Further shares for dilution is calculated for 2007 as a weighted average of the two Melrose Incentive Share Schemes that were in operation during
the year.
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11 Earnings per share continued

Year ended
31 December
2007
pence

Year ended
31 December
2006
pence

Basic earnings per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
From discontinued operations
From continuing operations

102.1
94.7
7.4

14.7
13.5
1.2

Fully diluted earnings per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
From discontinued operations
From continuing operations

99.2
92.0
7.2

14.4
13.2
1.2

Headline earnings per share
From continuing operations

9.4

3.3

Fully diluted headline earnings per share
From continuing operations

9.1

3.3

Computer
Software
£m

Total
£m

Earnings per share

12 Intangible assets
Goodwill
£m

Other
Intangible
Assets
£m

Cost
At 31 December 2006
Additions
Acquisitions
Disposals
Exchange adjustments

307.8
–
4.5
(129.5)
0.7

55.2
–
1.6
(28.6)
0.6

2.7
0.6
–
(2.1)
0.1

365.7
0.6
6.1
(160.2)
1.4

At 31 December 2007

183.5

28.8

1.3

213.6

Amortisation
At 31 December 2006
Charge for the period
Disposals
Exchange adjustments

–
–
–
–

(7.9)
(3.0)
5.6
(0.1)

(1.6)
(0.2)
1.1
(0.1)

(9.5)
(3.2)
6.7
(0.2)

At 31 December 2007

–

(5.4)

(0.8)

(6.2)

Net book value
At 31 December 2007

183.5

23.4

0.5

207.4

At 31 December 2006

307.8

47.3

1.1

356.2

Other intangible assets include patented technology, customer relationships and trade names.
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12 Intangible assets continued
Goodwill has been allocated to the business segments, each of which comprises several cash generating units as follows:
31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

164.5
–
–
15.8
3.2
–

157.8
112.5
1.0
16.1
–
20.4

183.5

307.8

Dynacast
OEM
Aftermarket
MVC
MPC (including Prelok)
PSM

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.
The goodwill recognised on the acquisition of the continuing McKechnie PSM (“PSM”) segment has been aggregated within the MPC cash
generating unit.
The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the cash generating units. The growth rates are based on a prudent estimate of industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management and extrapolates cash flows
based on estimated growth rates of between 2% and 2.5%. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.
The discount rate applied is between 9% and 12% depending on the risk elements associated with each division and the funding structure of each
division. MVC is currently loss making and the impairment test takes into account the profit improvement plan.
Acquisitions
On 7 September 2007, Dynacast Canada acquired the trade and assets of QZD Inc, a company incorporated in Canada for consideration of
£6.3 million including acquisition costs of £0.2 million.
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
£m

QZD
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Trade payables
Deferred tax liability

Fair value
adjustments
£m

Fair value
£m

2.2
–
1.2
2.1
(1.9)
–

(1.8)
1.6
(0.2)
–
–
(0.5)

0.4
1.6
1.0
2.1
(1.9)
(0.5)

3.6

(0.9)

2.7

Goodwill

3.6

Total consideration

6.3
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12 Intangible assets continued
On 28 September 2007, Dynacast Canada acquired the trade and assets of Techmire Limited, a company incorporated in Canada for consideration
of £2.4 million including acquisition costs of £0.1 million.
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
£m

Techmire
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Trade payables
Other payables
Provisions

Fair value
adjustments
£m

Fair value
£m

1.2
1.7
0.7
(0.8)
(0.2)
–

(0.7)
–
–
–
–
(0.4)

0.5
1.7
0.7
(0.8)
(0.2)
(0.4)

2.6

(1.1)

1.5

Goodwill

0.9

Total consideration

2.4

The adjustments to the carrying value on acquisitions above have been processed to represent the fair value of the assets acquired.
The businesses acquired above contributed £5.1 million revenue and £0.2 million headline operating profit during the period since acquisition.
Disclosure of the revenue and profit of the acquired businesses for the year, as though the acquisition date for both acquisitions had occurred at
the beginning of the year, is not practical to obtain as not all of the trade and assets were acquired.
The goodwill arising on the above acquisitions is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the distribution of the Group’s products and the
anticipated future operating synergies in the combination.
A list of the significant investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given in
note 3 to the Company’s separate financial statements.

13 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings
£m

Plant and
equipment
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 31 December 2006
Additions
Acquisitions
Disposal of businesses
Disposals
Exchange adjustments

25.8
1.3
–
(11.0)
–
0.3

74.4
16.8
0.9
(20.1)
(1.5)
2.5

100.2
18.1
0.9
(31.1)
(1.5)
2.8

At 31 December 2007

16.4

73.0

89.4

Depreciation
At 31 December 2006
Charge for the period
Disposal of businesses
Disposals
Impairment
Exchange adjustments

(1.5)
(0.8)
0.6
–
–
(0.1)

(19.3)
(10.8)
4.6
1.1
(1.5)
(1.0)

(20.8)
(11.6)
5.2
1.1
(1.5)
(1.1)

At 31 December 2007

(1.8)

(26.9)

(28.7)

Net book value
At 31 December 2007

14.6

46.1

60.7

At 31 December 2006

24.3

55.1

79.4

The net carrying amount of plant and equipment includes £1.5 million (2006: £3.4 million) in respect of assets held under finance leases.
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14 Interests in joint ventures

31 December
2007
£m

Aggregated amounts relating to joint ventures:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Revenues
Profit

31 December
2006
£m

–
–
1.7
0.2

3.6
(1.0)
6.9
0.8

During the year, the company disposed of its interests in joint ventures (note 9).

15 Inventories
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

16 Trade and other receivables
Trade debtors
Allowance for doubtful debts
Other debtors
Prepayments

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

11.3
8.3
10.1

14.1
22.2
23.0

29.7

59.3

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

64.0
(3.1)
4.7
1.4

85.7
(2.6)
4.7
2.9

67.0

90.7

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Credit terms offered to customers varies upon the country of operation but are generally between
30 and 90 days.
An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts made with reference to past default experience and management’s assessment
of credit worthiness, an analysis of which is as follows:

Balance at 31 December 2005

Dynacast
£m

MPC
£m

MVC
£m

Discontinued
£m

Total
£m

0.1

0.6

2.1

–
–
–

–
0.2
–

(0.1)
0.8
(0.2)

1.1

0.3

(0.1)
0.5
(0.1)

–
0.1
(0.1)

Balance at 31 December 2006

1.4

0.3

0.1

0.8

2.6

Exchange differences
Income statement charge
Disposed
Written off

0.2
0.6
–
–

–
0.3
–
–

–
0.3
–
(0.1)

–
0.1
(0.9)
–

0.2
1.3
(0.9)
(0.1)

Balance at 31 December 2007

2.2

0.6

0.3

Exchange differences
Income statement charge
Written off
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16 Trade and other receivables continued
The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the number of customers being high and that they are unrelated to each other.
Ageing of impaired trade receivables:
0 – 30 days
31 – 60 days
60+ days

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.4
0.3
2.4

0.1
0.3
2.2

3.1

2.6

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £12.6 million (2006: £16.4 million) which are past due at
the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the Group believes that the
amounts are still considered recoverable.
Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables are:
0 – 30 days
31 – 60 days
60+ days

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

9.9
1.7
1.0

11.7
2.6
2.1

12.6

16.4

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

46.4

33.3

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

17 Cash and short term deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and one month and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.

18 Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Other payables
Interest payable
Other taxes and social security
Accruals

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

43.3
7.0
2.7
3.1
21.8

61.4
11.5
4.5
2.7
24.7

77.9

104.8

Trade payables are non-interest bearing. Normal settlement terms vary by country, usually being between 30 and 90 days. Other payables are
non-interest bearing and have an average term of approximately two months.
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
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19 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Current
Finance leases
Euro loan (Austria)
Redeemable Preference C shares

Non current bank loans
Denominated in the following currencies:
US dollar loan
Euro loan
Sterling loan
Euro loan (Austria)

Effective
interest rate %

Final
Maturity

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

–
1.0
–

2008-2011
July 2011
June 2008

0.4
0.5
7.2

1.0
–
–

8.1

1.0

–
–
April 2010
July 2011

–
–
11.0
1.3

111.8
58.6
20.0
1.7

2009-2011

12.3
0.8

192.1
2.8

13.1

194.9

–
–
LIBOR plus 0.35%
1.0

Finance leases

The interest rate re-pricing profile of financial liabilities, after taking into account hedging interest rate derivatives, is described in note 24.
As described in note 25, the 9,053,594 Redeemable Preference C Shares will be redeemed on 30 June 2008 at a value of £7.4 million. These
shares have been discounted at 6% to show the fair value as at 31 December 2007 of £7.2 million and in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards the liability is not included in net debt as shown in the net debt reconciliation.
Maturity of Financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the anticipated future cash flows including interest in relation to the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, on an
undiscounted basis and which, therefore, differs from both the carrying value and fair value, is as follows:

Bank Loans
£m

Finance lease
obligations
£m

Redeemable
Preference C
Shares
£m

Other
financial
liabilities
£m

Total
£m

Within one year
In one to two years
In two to three years
After three years
Effect of discounting/financing rates

1.1
1.0
11.7
0.4
(1.4)

0.4
0.4
0.4
0.1
(0.1)

7.4
–
–
–
(0.2)

77.9
–
–
–
–

86.8
1.4
12.1
0.5
(1.7)

31 December 2007

12.8

1.2

7.2

77.9

99.1

Within one year
In one to two years
In two to three years
After three years
Effect of discounting/financing rates

9.7
38.7
41.7
131.6
(29.6)

1.1
1.1
1.1
0.9
(0.4)

–
–
–
–
–

104.8
–
–
–
–

115.6
39.8
42.8
132.5
(30.0)

31 December 2006

192.1

3.8

–

104.8

300.7

The Group has a committed bank facility that provides a term loan and revolver facility. This facility expires in April 2010 and throughout the year the
Group complied with the covenants. The revolver facility is for £30 million and is available for general corporate purposes. At 31 December 2007,
the undrawn amount of the revolver facility was £25.0 million (2006: £18.7 million). The utilisations relate to the issue of bank guarantees and
letters of credit. The revolver facility incurs commitment fees and provides funding at floating rates.
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Environmental
remediation
costs
£m

Factory
closure
£m

Incentive
scheme
related
£m

Warranty
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

14.1
(4.4)
0.4
(6.2)
3.1
–

At 31 December 2006
Utilised
Acquisition of subsidiary
Disposal of subsidiary
Income statement
Exchange differences

2.9
(0.2)
0.4
(2.5)
–
–

2.6
(0.1)
–
(1.4)
–
–

3.4
(0.2)
–
(2.6)
–
–

1.3
(1.4)
–
–
0.9
–

1.5
(2.2)
–
–
2.2
–

–
–
–
0.7
–
–

2.4
(0.3)
–
(0.4)
–
–

At 31 December 2007

0.6

1.1

0.6

0.8

1.5

0.7

1.7

7.0

Current
Non-current

0.4
0.2

0.3
0.8

–
0.6

0.8
–

–
1.5

0.7
–

1.3
0.4

3.5
3.5

0.6

1.1

0.6

0.8

1.5

0.7

1.7

7.0

The provision for onerous contracts relates to the losses on contracts acquired upon purchase of subsidiaries and to a property lease.
The provision for surplus leasehold property costs is the estimated net rentals payable over the period of the leases together with any dilapidation
costs discounted at 6% (2006: 6%).
Environmental remediation provisions relate to the estimated clean up costs of pollution, soil contamination and legal costs at certain subsidiaries.
Factory closure costs relate to restructuring programmes around the group.
Included in the incentive scheme related provisions is £1.4m (2006: £0.3m) relating to long term incentive plans and £0.1m (2006: £1.2m)
relating to National Insurance on Incentive Shares.
The warranty provision has arisen as a result of the disposals during 2007.
Other provisions relate mainly to the estimated legal costs arising from claims for which no other liability is expected to crystallise.

21 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting period.
Accelerated
capital
allowances &
other liabilities
£m

Tax losses &
other assets
£m

Intangible
assets
£m

Total
£m

At 1 January 2006
Credit to income (note 8)
Charge to equity
Exchange differences

(3.2)
0.1
(1.7)
0.4

29.1
4.2
–
(3.5)

(16.7)
1.6
–
0.9

9.2
5.9
(1.7)
(2.2)

At 31 December 2006
Credit/(charge) to income (note 8)
Disposal
Acquisitions
Exchange differences

(4.4)
1.3
1.7
–
(0.1)

29.8
(5.7)
(20.8)
–
(0.2)

(14.2)
1.2
6.9
(0.5)
–

11.2
(3.2)
(12.2)
(0.5)
(0.3)

At 31 December 2007

(1.5)

3.1

(6.6)

(5.0)
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21 Deferred tax continued
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes.
31 December
2007
£m

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

31 December
2006
£m

(8.1)
3.1

(18.6)
29.8

(5.0)

11.2

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £167 million (2006: £204 million) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset of £3.1 million (2006: £29.8 million) has been recognised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £164 million (2006: £146 million) due to the geographical split of future profit streams. These losses may be carried forward
indefinitely, subject to certain continuity of business requirements.
A significant part of the retirement benefit obligations recognised in the Group accounts relates to the McKechnie Pension Plan. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised on this obligation due to the unpredictability of future profit streams in the United Kingdom. A small deferred tax asset
of £0.9 million is recognised with respect to certain overseas pension schemes and is included within the tax losses and other assets category.
At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was £1.5 million (2006: £1.5 million). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

22 Share based payments
Original equity-settled share incentive scheme
The Company had 59,170 Convertible B Shares (“Original Incentive Shares”) held by Directors, employees and the Melrose Employee Benefit
Trust (the “EBT”) which were due to convert shortly after 31 May 2009, or earlier on a takeover of the Company, into Ordinary Shares with an
aggregate value on conversion equal to 10% of the increase in shareholder value. 50,000 of these shares were issued to Directors and employees
in 2003 and a further 9,170 shares were issued to the EBT in 2005. During 2006 options were granted over 8,877 of the 9,170 shares to Directors
and senior employees. All options over Original Incentive Shares were exercised on 14 August 2007 at an exercise price of £1.
On 14 August 2007, at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”), shareholders approved resolutions to crystallise the Original Incentive Share
Scheme, into 10,210,069 Ordinary Shares and 59,170 Deferred Incentive Shares, based on the increased market value accrued up to 18 July
2007. As a consequence of crystallising the Original Incentive Share arrangements, in the second half of the year an exceptional charge of £1.1
million relating to the remaining IFRS 2 charge on the Original Incentive Shares and an exceptional charge of £0.8 million relating to the accelerated
National Insurance charge occurred. The 59,170 Deferred Incentive Shares were repurchased by the Company for an aggregate sum of one penny.
New 2007 Incentive Scheme
At the EGM, shareholders approved the increase of the Company’s authorised share capital by £50,000 in respect of the new 2007 Incentive
Share Scheme following the crystallisation of the Original Incentive Share Scheme. The conversion formula for the new 2007 Incentive Shares is
based upon principles identical to the conversion formula for the Original Incentive Shares and, broadly provides for the new 2007 Incentive
Shares to convert into Ordinary Shares equal to 10 per cent of the increase in shareholder value from 18 July 2007 (excluding the Return of
Capital). As with the Original Incentive Shares, the new 2007 Incentive Shares have early “trigger dates” upon which the Remuneration Committee
can permit up to one third of the new 2007 Incentive Shares held by a 2007 Incentive Shareholder to be converted into Ordinary Shares. The early
trigger dates for the new 2007 Incentive Shares will be on 31 May in each of the years 2010 and 2011. On 31 May 2012, the final trigger date, all
unconverted new 2007 Incentive Shares will convert into Ordinary Shares in accordance with the formula set out in the Company’s Articles. The
Articles do not permit holders of new 2007 Incentive Shares to convert more than two thirds of their holding of such shares before 31 May 2012.
The rights and restrictions of the new 2007 Incentive Shares are similar to the rights and restrictions of the Original Incentive Shares. 3,000 of the
new 2007 Incentive Shares are held by the EBT.
The estimated fair value attributable to these new Incentive Shares using a Black Scholes option pricing model was £3.7 million.
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22 Share based payments continued
Details of the share options over the Original Incentive Shares which were exercised on 14 August 2007 are as follows:
31 December 2007
Number of
share options

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Outstanding at year end

8,877
–
(8,877)
–

31 December 2006

Weighted
average
exercise price

Number of
share options

Weighted
average
exercise price

£1.00
–
£1.00

–
8,877
–

–
£1.00
–

–

8,877

£1.00

The inputs into the Black Scholes model used to fair value the Original Incentive Share Scheme and 2007 Incentive Shares are as follows:

Weighted average share price
Weighted average exercise price
Expected volatility
Expected life as at 31 December 2007
Risk free interest
Expected dividend yield

New 2007
Incentive Share

Original Incentive
Share Scheme

£1.67
£1.00
25.0%
4.4 yrs
2.0%
3.2%

£1.53
£1.00
25.0%
2.4 yrs
2.0%
3.2%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price.
The Group recognised total expenses of £2.9 million (2006: £1.6 million) in relation to equity-settled share based payment transactions in 2007
including National Insurance charges.

23 Retirement benefit obligations
Prior to the acquisition, McKechnie and Dynacast had established a number of pension schemes covering many of its employees and operating
in several jurisdictions.
The most significant schemes are:
■

■

■
■

The UK McKechnie Pension Plan (the “Plan”) which provides defined benefit pensions for its members. The assets of the Plan are held in
a fund administered by McKechnie Pension Trust Limited, an independent trustee company. An actuarial valuation of the Plan was carried out
at 31 December 2005 by a qualified independent actuary. Plan assets are stated at their bid value at 31 December 2007.
The Dynacast and MVC Pension Schemes in the US are funded schemes of a defined benefit type with assets held in separate trustee
administered funds.
In Germany and Austria, unfunded defined benefit arrangements are operated by Dynacast.
There are also obligations to provide post retirement healthcare to former employees of MVC and to provide termination indemnities in Italy and
France to current Dynacast employees.
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23 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The major weighted average assumptions used at 31 December 2007 by the actuaries in calculating the Group’s pension scheme assets and
liabilities together with details of the net pension assets or liabilities are as set out below:
McKechnie
Pension Plan
(% p.a.)

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

3.8
3.3
5.7
3.3

Other
schemes
(% p.a.)

3.0
1.9
5.9
2.3

The weighted average assumptions used at 31 December 2006 are set out below:
McKechnie
Pension Plan
(% p.a.)

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

3.4
2.9
5.1
2.9

Other
schemes
(% p.a.)

2.7
1.7
5.3
2.3

Mortality
The mortality assumption for the Plan has been strengthened during the year. At 31 December 2006, a position of halfway between the PA 92
base tables and the PA 92 medium cohort tables was adopted. The mortality assumptions at 31 December 2007 relate to the PA 92 medium
cohort tables with an age adjustment of two years and an improvement floor of 1%. This is considered appropriate given the Plan’s geographical
and industrial sector. This added £7.6 million to the liabilities at 31 December 2007.
The average life expectancy underlying the value of defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2007, which have been determined by reference
to applicable mortality statistics are set out below:
Life expectancy

Male member currently aged 65
Male member aged 65 in 2020

31 December
2007
years

31 December
2006
years

85.6
86.8

83.6
85.1

31 December
2004
£m

31 December
2003
£m

The amount recognised in the balance sheet arising from obligations in respect of defined benefit schemes is as follows:
31 December
2007
£m

Plan obligations
Plan assets
Net liabilities

31 December
2006
£m

31 December
2005
£m

(148.4)
123.2

(147.9)
92.5

(145.5)
85.0

–
–

–
–

(25.2)

(55.4)

(60.5)

–

–

This amount is presented in the balance sheet:

Non-current liabilities
– unfunded plans
– funded plans
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31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

31 December
2005
£m

31 December
2004
£m

31 December
2003
£m

4.1
21.1

10.9
44.5

8.7
51.8

–
–

–
–

25.2

55.4

60.5

–

–
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23 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Expected returns and fair value of assets
Expected return

Fair value of assets

31 December
2007
%

31 December
2006
%

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Other assets

7.4
4.6
6.8

7.4
4.9
4.4

33.7
3.9
85.6

68.1
12.7
11.7

Weighted average/total

6.9

6.7

123.2

92.5

The expected return on plan assets for 2008 is based on market expectations at 1 January 2008 for returns on assets over the entire life of the
obligation.
There is no self investment (other than in pooled funds) either in the Group’s own financial instruments or property or other assets used by the
Group.
Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

In arriving at operating profit (included within cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses)
– current service cost
– effects of curtailments and settlements
Included in finance costs
– interest cost
– expected return on assets

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

0.4
(1.1)

0.4
–

7.4
(7.0)

6.8
(5.4)

The actual return on scheme assets was £9.3 million (2006: £7.1 million).
The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense is as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities
Experience gains on scheme assets

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

1.2
2.3

(0.5)
1.7

3.5

1.2

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense is a total gain
of £6.9 million (2006: £3.4 million).
Movements in the benefit liabilities during the year

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

At beginning of year
Disposals
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/losses
Benefits paid
Plan settlements
Plan curtailments
Currency loss/(gain)

147.9
(0.6)
0.4
7.4
(1.2)
(3.9)
(0.8)
(1.1)
0.3

145.5
–
0.4
6.8
0.5
(4.3)
–
–
(1.0)

At end of year

148.4

147.9
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23 Retirement benefit obligations continued

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets during the year

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

92.5
(0.4)
7.0
2.3
26.7
(3.9)
(0.8)
(0.2)

At beginning of year
Disposals
Expected return on assets
Actuarial gains
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Plan settlements
Currency loss

85.0
–
5.4
1.7
5.0
(4.0)
–
(0.6)

123.2

At end of year

92.5

The Company has guaranteed a schedule of contributions of £6.1 million per annum with the Trustee of the McKechnie Pension Plan up until
May 2010.

24 Financial instruments and risk management
The table below sets out the Group’s accounting classification of each category of financial assets and liabilities and their fair values at
31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006:
31 December 2007
Financial assets
Bank deposits
Trade receivables
Derivatives
– Foreign exchange
Financial liabilities
Bank loans
Finance lease obligations
Redeemable preference shares
Other financial liabilities
31 December 2006
Financial assets
Bank deposits
Trade receivables
Derivatives
– Interest swaps and caps
– Foreign exchange
Financial liabilities
Bank loans
Finance lease obligations
Redeemable preference shares
Other financial liabilities
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Dynacast
£m

MPC
£m

MVC
£m

Central
£m

Discontinued
£m

Total
£m

28.8
42.8

4.8
8.3

(13.8)
9.7

26.6
0.1

–
–

46.4
60.9

0.7

(0.4)

0.1

–

0.4

(1.8)
–
–
(56.2)

–
(0.1)
–
(10.7)

–
(1.1)
–
(8.6)

(11.0)
–
(7.2)
(2.4)

–
–
–
–

(12.8)
(1.2)
(7.2)
(77.9)

29.7
39.4

5.0
9.6

(1.1)
5.9

(12.8)
0.1

12.5
28.1

33.3
83.1

–
0.2

–
0.1

–
–

1.1
0.3

(1.7)
(0.1)
–
(47.8)

–
(0.1)
–
(12.7)

–

–
–
–
(1.3)
–
(8.2)

1.1
–
(102.8)
–
–
(11.2)

(87.6)
(2.3)
–
(24.9)

(192.1)
(3.8)
–
(104.8)
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24 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Credit risk
The Group considers its maximum exposure to credit risk to be as follows:

31 December 2007
Bank deposits
Trade receivables
Derivatives
– foreign exchange
31 December 2006
Bank deposits
Trade receivables
Derivatives
– Interest swaps and caps
– Foreign exchange

Dynacast
£m

MPC
£m

MVC
£m

Central
£m

Discontinued
£m

Total
£m

28.8
42.8

4.8
8.3

(13.8)
9.7

26.6
0.1

–
–

46.4
60.9

0.7

(0.4)

0.1

–

0.4

29.7
39.4

5.0
9.6

12.5
28.1

33.3
83.1

–
0.2

–
0.1

–
–

1.1
0.3

–

(1.1)
5.9
–
–

(12.8)
0.1
1.1
–

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and short term deposits and trade and other receivables which represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for
doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic
environment. Note 16 provides further details of the Group’s policies regarding recovery of trade receivables.
Fair values
The Directors consider that the financial assets and liabilities have fair values not materially different to the carrying values.
Foreign exchange contracts
As at 31 December 2007, the Group held foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate expected exchange fluctuations on cashflows over the
next 12 months on sales to customers and purchases from suppliers. These instruments operate as cash flow hedges. The terms of the contracts
are as follows:

Sell US dollar/Buy Canadian dollar
Sell US dollar/Buy Chinese Yuan Renminbi
Sell US dollar/Buy Singapore Dollar
Sell US dollar/Buy Malaysian Dollar
Sell euro/Buy sterling

31 December
2007
Millions

31 December
2007
Average rate

31 December
2006
Millions

31 December
2006
Average rate

USD 13.7
USD 19.7
USD 14.3
USD 8.5
EUR 9.6

1.03
7.30
1.46
3.35
1.45

USD 16.7
USD 14.8
USD 13.9
USD 7.9
EUR 15.3

1.13
7.64
1.57
3.58
1.47

The foreign exchange forward contracts all mature between January 2008 and December 2008.
The fair value of the contracts at 31 December 2007 was an asset of £0.4m (2006: £0.3 million).
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24 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Hedge of net investments in foreign entities
Included in interest bearing loans in 2006 were the following amounts which were designated as hedges of net investments in the Group’s
subsidiaries in Europe and USA and were being used to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risks. On 15 May 2007 following the disposal of
the OEM and Aftermarket divisions, these loans were repaid in full.
Borrowings in local currency:
31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

–
–

111.8
58.6

US dollar
Euro

Up to the date of repayment, gains on the retranslation of these borrowings of £0.3 million (2006: £16.9 million) have been transferred to equity
to offset any gains or losses on translation of the net investments in subsidiaries.
Market risk
A one percentage point rise in market interest rates for all currencies would increase profit before tax by the following amounts:

Sterling
US dollar
Euro

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1
0.1

At 31 December 2007, the Group had net cash of £32.4 million and as at 31 December 2006, the Group had net debt of £162.6 million which
comprised £190.4 million of bank term borrowings and net cash of £27.8 million. At 31 December 2006, a one percentage point rise in market
interest rates only impacts the net cash balance due to the interest rate exposure on the bank term borrowings being fixed by the Group’s interest
rate instruments.
Interest rate swaps and caps
Prior to 15 May 2007, the Group had bank term borrowings of US $219.3 million, 187.3 million and £15.0 million. As a consequence of the sale of
the Aerospace division on 11 May 2007 and the majority of the PSM division on 18 May 2007, the Group repaid the US dollar and euro term
borrowings and partly repaid the sterling borrowing leaving a balance of £11.0 million.
Prior to the disposals, the Group used interest rate derivatives to manage its exposure to floating interest rates on these bank term borrowings.
The Group used interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its US dollar bank borrowings by swapping from floating
to fixed interest rates. Two contracts with total nominal values of US $219.3 million had fixed interest rates at an average rate of 4.09 per cent for
periods up to July 2007. Following the repayment of the US $219.3 million bank borrowing, the two interest rate swaps were sold back to the bank
counterparties generating a receipt of US $0.7 million which was credited to finance income.
The Group also used interest rate caps to manage its exposure to movements in sterling and euro interest rates. Two caps with a total notional
principal amount of £20 million and a cap level of 5% were held to hedge exposure on the Group’s sterling borrowings up to July 2007. Two caps
with a total notional principal amount of 187.3 million and a cap level of 3% were held to hedge exposure on the Group’s euro borrowings up to
July 2007. Following the repayment of the euro bank borrowing and the reduction of the sterling borrowing, with the remaining sterling borrowing
being rolled into July 2007, the four interest rate caps were sold back to the bank counterparties generating a receipt of 10.2 million which was
credited to finance income.
All interest rate swaps and interest rate caps were designated as cash flow hedges.
Foreign currency risk
The Group’s policy for managing foreign currency risk is set out in the Finance Director’s review.
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24 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following table details the increase in Group operating profit caused by a 10 cent strengthening of the US dollar and euro against sterling:
31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.2
1.1

0.1
1.0

Fair value of derivatives

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Interest rate caps

0.4
–
–

0.3
0.8
0.3

0.4

1.4

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.4
220.0
–
0.1

0.3
–
0.1
–

220.5

0.4

0.2
58.0
–
0.1

0.2
–
0.1
–

58.3

0.3

US dollar
Euro

25 Issued capital and reserves
Share capital
Authorised
201,000,000 (2006 : 342,830,000) Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each (2006: 0.1p)
267,330,058 (2006: nil) Redeemable/Deferred C Shares of 82.3p each
Nil (2006: 59,170) Convertible B Shares of £1 each
50,000 (2006: nil) 2007 Incentive Shares of £1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
133,665,029 (2006: 257,119,989) Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each (2006: 0.1p)
70,489,480 (2006: nil) Deferred C shares of 82.3p each
Nil (2006: 59,170) Convertible B Shares of £1 each
50,000 ( 2006: nil) 2007 Incentive Shares of £1 each

On 14 August 2007 at an Extraordinary General Meeting, Shareholders approved resolutions to return capital of £220 million to Shareholders.
The Return of Capital took place by increasing the authorised share capital by £220 million by the issue of 267,330,058 Redeemable Preference C
Shares (“C Shares”) of 82.3 pence nominal value each and capitalising £214.6 million of the Share Premium Account and £5.0 million of the
Merger Reserve to pay up in full the C Shares. The C Shares were allotted on the basis of one C Share for each Ordinary Share of 0.1p each held on
15 August 2007. Shareholders had the option to receive the cash value inherent in the C Share by way of income or two capital options. As a result
of the choices made by Shareholders in respect of the Return of Capital:
■
■
■

187,786,984 C Shares were redeemed and subsequently cancelled with effect from 23 August 2007.
9,053,594 C Shares will be redeemed on 30 June 2008.
70,489,480 C Shares were paid a dividend which was payable on 23 August 2007 and these C Shares converted into Deferred C Shares.

Both the remaining 9.1 million C Shares and 70.5 million Deferred C Shares carry no voting rights or rights to dividends.
With the conversion of the Original Incentive Shares on 14 August 2007, the allotted Ordinary Share capital increased to 267,330,058. On
15 August 2007 a 1 for 2 share consolidation process reduced the issued Ordinary Share capital to 133,665,029 shares of 0.2p each with
the first day of trading being the 16 August 2007.
Redemption of the Deferred C Shares on 30 June 2008 will result in a £58.0 million transfer from share capital into the Capital Redemption Reserve.
The rights of each class of share are described in the Directors’ report.
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25 Issued capital and reserves continued
Own shares
The Trustee of the Melrose PLC EBT holds 3,000 2007 Incentive Shares (2006: 9,170 Convertible B Shares) in Melrose PLC. The EBT also holds
25,279 Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each in Melrose PLC.

Reserves
At 31 December 2005
Dividend paid
Currency translation adjustments
Profit for the period
Actuarial adjustments on net pension liabilities
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments
At 31 December 2006

Accumulated
profits/
(losses)
£m

Minority
interests
£m

18.9
–
(41.4)
–
–
–

(6.1)
(13.5)
–
37.7
1.2
0.4

0.9
–
–
0.1
–
–

42.0

(22.5)

19.7

1.0

(5.0)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
2.7
22.0
–
–

–
–
–
(13.0)
(212.6)
–
214.8
3.5
1.8

–
–
–
–
–
–
0.2
–
–

37.0

2.2

14.2

1.2

Capital
redemption
£m

Share
premium
£m

Merger
reserve
£m

–
–
–
–
–
–

214.6
–
–
–
–
–

42.0
–
–
–
–
–

214.6
(214.6)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–

Issue of C shares
B shares redeemed
C shares redeemed
Dividend paid
Return of capital
Currency translation adjustments
Profit for the period
Actuarial adjustments on net pension liabilities
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments

–
0.1
154.5
–
–
–
–
–
–

At 31 December 2007

154.6

–

Hedging and
translation
reserve
£m

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries. It is also used to record the net investments hedged in these subsidiaries.

Hedging and translation reserves
Balance at 1 January 2006
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives
Transfer to income
Balance at 31 December 2006
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives
Transfer to income
Balance at 31 December 2007
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Hedging
reserve
£m

Translation
reserve
£m

Total
£m

1.4
–
1.4
(1.4)

17.5
(41.4)
–
–

18.9
(41.4)
1.4
(1.4)

1.4

(23.9)

(22.5)

–
1.1
(2.1)

3.7
–
22.0

3.7
1.1
19.9

0.4

1.8

2.2
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26 Cash flow statement

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

24.5

19.2

10.3
0.1
(1.9)

10.9
0.1
(5.5)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Increase in receivables
(Decrease)/increase in payables

33.0
1.4
(0.5)
(3.8)

24.7
(6.3)
(8.4)
10.2

Cash generated by operations
Tax paid
Interest paid
Pension contributions paid

30.1
(4.2)
(5.7)
(6.1)

20.2
(2.0)
(4.0)
(4.5)

Net cash flow from operating activities for continuing operations

14.1

9.7

Year ended
31 December
2007
£m

Year ended
31 December
2006
£m

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated by operations
Headline operating profit from continuing operations(1)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of computer software
Restructuring costs paid and decrease in other provisions

(1)

As defined on the income statement

Cash flow from discontinued operations
Cash generated from discontinued operations
Tax paid
Interest paid
Pension contributions paid
Profit of joint ventures

6.9
(0.6)
(4.2)
(0.6)
(0.2)

30.8
(2.0)
(3.5)
(0.9)
(0.8)

1.3

23.6

Dividends from joint ventures
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of computer software

–
0.1
(2.6)
–
(0.1)

0.5
–
(7.7)
1.9
(0.3)

Net cash used in investing activities for discontinued operations

(2.6)

(5.6)

Repayments of obligations under finance leases
New finance leases

–
0.3

(0.3)
3.0

Net cash from financing activities for discontinued operations

0.3

2.7

Net cash from operating activities for discontinued operations
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26 Cash flow statement continued
Net debt reconciliation
At
31 December
2006
£m

Cash flow
£m

Foreign
exchange
difference
£m

Disposals
(excluding cash
and overdrafts)
£m

New leases
£m

Cash
Debt due within one year
Debt due after one year
Leases

33.3
–
(192.1)
(3.8)

12.0
–
179.0
0.3

1.1
–
0.3
0.1

–
–
–
2.5

–
–
–
(0.3)

Net (debt)/cash

(162.6)

191.3

1.5

2.5

(0.3)

Other
non-cash
movements
£m

At
31 December
2007
£m

46.4
(0.5)
(12.3)
(1.2)

–
(0.5)
0.5
–
–

32.4

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.5
0.8

1.1
3.1

1.3
(0.1)

4.2
(0.4)

1.2

3.8

27 Commitments and contingencies
Future total minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts were as follows:

Amounts payable:
Within one year
After one year but within five years
Total minimum lease payments
Less amounts representing finance charges

Future total minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2007 were as follows:
31 December 2007

Amounts payable:
Within one year
After one year but within five years
Over five years

31 December 2006

Land and
buildings
£m

Plant and
machinery
£m

Land and
buildings
£m

Plant and
machinery
£m

2.2
6.1
2.8

0.6
1.5
0.1

2.3
9.0
7.8

0.8
2.0
0.2

11.1

2.2

19.1

3.0

Capital Commitments
At 31 December 2007, there were commitments of £0.4 million (2006: £8.1 million) relating to the acquisition of new plant and machinery.
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28 Related parties
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note.
During the period the Group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with related parties as follows:

Joint ventures at
31 December 2007
31 December 2006

Sales of
goods
£m

Purchase of
goods
£m

Amounts owed
by related parties
£m

–
6.4

–
–

–
1.0

Sales to and purchases from related parties are priced as arm’s length transactions and generally are settled on 30 day terms.
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories
specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. Further information about the remuneration of individual Directors is provided in the audited part of
the Directors’ Remuneration report on page 32.

Short term employee benefits
Share based payment

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

2.1
1.6

1.9
0.4

3.7

2.3

29 Post balance sheet events
There are no post balance sheet events which require disclosure.

30 Contingent liabilities
Prior to the acquisition of the Dynacast and McKechnie businesses, there were a number of legal and environmental claims outstanding.
Whilst it is difficult to reasonably estimate the ultimate outcome of these claims, the Directors’ best estimate of the outcome of these claims has
been included in the balance sheet.
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Independent auditors’ report

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Melrose PLC
on the parent Company financial statements
We have audited the parent Company financial statements of Melrose
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the
balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 13. These parent Company
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as
described in the contents section and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited parent Company financial statements. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent
Company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any further information outside the Annual Report.

We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements
of Melrose PLC for the year ended 31 December 2007 and on the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration report that is described as
having been audited.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An
audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the parent Company financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the parent
Company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.
Respective responsibilities of
directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration report and the parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the parent Company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent Company
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent
Company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you
whether in our opinion the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
parent Company financial statements. The information given in the
Directors’ report includes that specific information presented in the
Business review and Finance Directors’ review that is cross referred
from the Business review section of the Directors’ report.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and
other transactions is not disclosed.
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the parent Company financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the parent Company financial
statements.
Opinion
In our opinion:
■ the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December
2007;
■ the parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
■ the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
parent Company financial statements.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS AND REGISTERED AUDITORS
London, United Kingdom
5 March 2008
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Company balance sheet for Melrose PLC

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

386.2
–

332.5
–

386.2

332.5

4

0.2

1.1

4

46.0
27.8

308.6
0.9

73.8

309.5

–
(173.9)

(9.4)
(169.6)

Notes

Fixed assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Fixtures and fittings

3

Non current assets
Derivative financial instruments
Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Bank overdrafts
Other creditors

6
5

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Bank loans
Provision for liabilities and charges

(173.9)

(179.0)

(100.1)

130.5

286.3

464.1

5, 6

(11.0)

(190.4)

7

(1.5)

(1.5)

Net assets

273.8

272.2

0.3
214.6
42.0
–
14.2
1.1
272.2

Capital and reserves
Issued share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Profit and loss account
Hedging reserve

10

58.3
–
37.0
154.6
23.7
0.2

Shareholders’ funds

11

273.8

8
9
9
9
9

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 March 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

GEOFFREY MARTIN
GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR

SIMON PECKHAM
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
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Notes to the company balance sheet

1 Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting
The separate financial statements of the company are presented as
required by the Companies Act 1985. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”) and law.
The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all
been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year.
Investments
Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries and associates are shown at cost
less provision for impairment.
For investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration, including
the issue of shares qualifying for merger relief, cost is measured by
reference to the nominal value only of the shares issued. Any premium
is ignored.
Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as interest payable in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.
Issue costs of loans
The finance cost recognised in the income statement in respect of
capital instruments is allocated to periods over the terms of the
instrument at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment in value.
The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction
cost, and any costs directly attributable to bring the asset into operation.
The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid
and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.
The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included within property,
plant and equipment.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the asset as follows:
Freehold land

nil

Freehold buildings and
long leasehold property

over expected economic life not
exceeding 50 years

Short leasehold property

over the term of the lease

Plant and other equipment

3-12 years

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed on an annual basis and, if necessary, changes in useful lives
are accounted for prospectively.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and
where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount,
the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is
the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in
the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash in
hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions and shortterm deposits with an original maturity of three months or less which
are subject to insignificant risks of changes in value.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued
Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance
sheet at cost and subsequently remeasured to their fair value. The
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss is dependent on
whether the derivative contract is designed to hedge a specific risk and
qualifies for hedge accounting. On the date a derivative contract is
entered into, the Group designates derivatives which qualify as hedges
for accounting purposes as either a) a hedge of the fair value of a
recognised asset or liability (fair value hedge), or b) a hedge of a
forecast transaction or firm commitment (cash flow hedge) or
c) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives which are fair value hedges and
that are highly effective are recognised in the income statement, along
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is
attributable to the hedged risk. Changes in the fair value of derivatives in
cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. Where the forecasted
transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset or
liability, the gains and losses previously included in equity are included
in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. Otherwise, amounts
recorded in equity are transferred to the income statement and
classified as revenue or expense in the same period in which the
forecasted transaction affects the income statement.
Hedges of net investments in foreign entities are accounted for similarly
to cash flow hedges. The Group hedges certain net investments in
foreign entities with foreign currency borrowings. All foreign exchange
gains or losses arising on translation are recognised in equity and
included in cumulative translation differences.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair
value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with
the borrowings.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.
Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payments. The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions.
Fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes model. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

Certain derivative instruments, while providing effective economic
hedges under the Group’s policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
income statement.
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Notes to the company balance sheet continued

2 Profit for the year
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the year.
Melrose PLC reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 of £233.3 million (2006: £16.0 million). The Company paid
a dividend of £13.0 million during the year and in addition, the shareholders authorised a return of capital of £220 million of which £212.6 million
was paid during the year. Details are given in note 10 to the Group accounts.
The Company has unused tax losses of approximately £17.3 million (2006: £nil) available to carry forward and offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses due to uncertainty over future taxable profits arising in the foreseeable future.
The estimated value of the deferred tax asset not recognised at 28% is £4.7 million.
The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £0.2 million (2006: £0.4 million).
Staff costs charged to operating profit comprise:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

3.7
0.2
0.1

2.7
0.2
0.1

4.0

3.0

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

386.2
–

332.5
–

386.2

332.5

The pension costs relate to payments made by the Company to individual employee personal pension arrangements.

3 Fixed asset investments
Subsidiaries
Associates

The Company has investments in the following subsidiaries and associates which principally affected the profits or net assets of the Group.
The following subsidiaries are directly owned by Melrose PLC.
Subsidiaries

Country of incorporation

Principal activity

Dynacast Canada UK Limited
Dynacast Holdings Limited
Dynacast International Limited
Melrose Management Resources Limited
Melrose Overseas Holdings Limited
Melrose UK Holdings Limited
Melrose UK1 Limited
Melrose UK2 Limited
Melrose UK3 Limited
Mozart Jersey No 2 Limited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Jersey

Hedging company
Holding company
Holding company
Provision of management services
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
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Holding %

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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3 Fixed asset investments continued
Other indirectly owned subsidiaries and joint ventures of the Group are:

Dynacast (Melaka) Sdn Bhd
Dynacast (Singapore) PTE Limited
Dynacast (UK) Limited
Dynacast Beteiligungs GmbH
Dynacast Canada Inc
Dynacast Deutschland GmbH and Co KG
Dynacast Espana SA
Dynacast France SAS
Dynacast Holdings (France) SAS
Dynacast Inc
Dynacast Investments Limited
Dynacast Italia S.r.l
Dynacast Korea Limited
Dynacast Loz d.o.o
Dynacast Österreich GmbH
Dynacast US Holdings Inc
Dynacast Verwaltungs GmbH
Fijaciones Industriales Prelok SA
Eachairn Aerospace Holdings Limited *
McKechnie Engineered Plastics Limited
(trading as McKechnie Plastic Components Stamford Bridge and Pickering)
McKechnie EP Holdings Limited *
McKechnie Holdings (UK) Limited *
McKechnie Investments (USA) Limited
McKechnie Management Services Limited
McKechnie Specialist Products Limited (trading as Prelok and Canning Brett)
McKechnie Vehicle Components USA Inc
Melrose Beteiligungs und Verwaltungs GmbH
Melrose Singapore 1 Pte Ltd
Melrose Singapore Holdings Pte Ltd
Melrose Spain SL
Melrose UK 1A Limited
Melrose UK 2A Limited
Melrose UK 3A Limited
Melrose US 1 LLC
Melrose US 2 LLC
New Dynacast de Mexico SA de CV
Petcin France SA
Prelok SAS
Prelok GmbH
Shanghai Dynacast Automotive Casting Co Ltd
Shanghai Dynacast Electronic Components Ltd
Sundaram Dynacast Limited
*

Country of incorporation

Functional currency

Malaysia
Singapore
England and Wales
Germany
Canada
Germany
Spain
France
France
USA
England and Wales
Italy
Korea
Slovenia
Austria
USA
Germany
Spain
England and Wales

Ringgit
SG Dollar
Sterling
Euro
Canadian Dollar
Euro
Euro
Euro
Euro
US Dollar
Sterling
Euro
Korean Won
Euro
Euro
US Dollar
Euro
Euro
Sterling

% equity interest

100
100
100
100
100
100
97
100
100
100
100
100
90
70
100
100
100
100
100

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
USA
Austria
Singapore
Singapore
Spain
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
USA
USA
Mexico
France
France
Germany
China
China
India

Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
US Dollar
Euro
SG Dollar
SG Dollar
Euro
Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
Euro
Euro
RMB
RMB
Rupee

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
49

31% owned by Mozart Jersey No 2 Limited
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Notes to the company balance sheet continued

3 Fixed asset investments continued
Subsidiaries

£m

Cost and net book value
At 31 December 2006
Additions
Disposals

332.5
53.7
–

At 31 December 2007

386.2

The additions and disposals relate to Group reorganisations in the year, sales to and from fellow Group companies.
During the year, the investment in Dynacast Canada UK Limited was increased by £53.4 million as a result of capitalising a loan due to the
company. In addition, following the liquidation of Mozart Jersey Holdings 1 Limited, the investment held by this company in McKechnie EP
Holdings Limited, McKechnie Holdings UK Limited, McKechnie Aerospace Holdings Limited and Mozart Jersey Holdings 2 Limited were transferred
to Melrose PLC resulting in an increase of £0.3 million.

4 Debtors

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.2

1.1

45.7
0.3

308.4
0.2

46.0

308.6

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

165.5
1.2
7.2

164.2
5.4
–

173.9

169.6

11.0

190.4

11.0

190.4

Amounts falling due after one year:
Derivative financial instruments
Details of the interest rate swaps and caps on which this amount arises are given in note 24 of the Group financial statements
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Prepayments

5 Trade and other creditors
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Accruals
Preference shares

Amounts falling due after one year:
Bank loans and overdrafts

As described in note 8, the 9,053,594 Redeemable Preference C Shares will be redeemed on 30 June 2008 at a value of £7.4 million. The shares
have been discounted at 6% to show the fair value as at 31 December 2007 of £7.2 million.
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6 Bank loans

Effective
interest rate
%

Final maturity

Current
Overdrafts

Non-current bank loans
Denominated in the following currencies
US dollar loan
Euro loan
Sterling loan

–
–
LIBOR plus 0.75%

–
–
April 2010

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

–

9.4

–

9.4

–
–
11.0

111.8
58.6
20.0

11.0

190.4

7 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Incentive
scheme
related
£m

At 31 December 2006
Utilised
Profit and loss account

1.5
(2.2)
2.2

At 31 December 2007

1.5

Included in incentive scheme related provisions is £1.4 million relating to long term incentive plans and £0.1 million relating to National Insurance
on incentive schemes. This provision is considered to be non-current.

8 Called-up share capital
Share Capital
Authorised
201,000,000 (2006: 342,830,000) Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each (2006: 0.1p)
267,330,058 (2006: nil) Redeemable/ Deferred C Shares of 82.3p each
Nil (2006: 59,170) Convertible B Shares of £1 each
50,000 (2006: nil) 2007 Incentive Shares of £1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
133,665,029 (2006: 257,119,989) Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each (2006: 0.1p)
70,489,480 (2006: nil) Deferred C shares of 82.3p each
Nil (2006: 59,170) Convertible B Shares of £1 each
50,000 ( 2006: nil) 2007 Incentive Shares of £1 each

31 December
2007
£m

31 December
2006
£m

0.4
220.0
–
0.1

0.3
–
0.1
–

220.5

0.4

0.2
58.0
–
0.1

0.2
–
0.1
–

58.3

0.3
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Notes to the company balance sheet continued

8 Called-up share capital continued
On 14 August 2007 at an Extraordinary General Meeting, Shareholders approved resolutions to return capital of £220 million to Shareholders.
The Return of Capital took place by increasing the authorised share capital by £220 million by the creation of 267,330,058 Redeemable Preference
C Shares (“C Shares”) of 82.3 pence nominal value each and capitalising £214.6 million of the Share Premium Account and £5.0 million of the
Merger Reserve to pay up in full the C Shares. The C Shares were allotted on the basis of one C Share for each Ordinary Share of 0.1p each held on
15 August 2007. Shareholders had the option to receive the cash value inherent in the C Share by way of income or two capital options.
As a result of the choices made by Shareholders in respect of the Return of Capital:
■
■
■

187,786,984 C Shares were redeemed and subsequently cancelled with effect from 23 August 2007.
9,053,594 C Shares will be redeemed on 30 June 2008.
70,489,480 C Shares were paid a dividend which was payable on 23 August 2007 and these C Shares converted into Deferred C Shares.

Both the remaining 9.1 million C Shares and 70.5 million Deferred C Shares carry no voting rights or rights to dividends.
With the conversion of the Original Incentive Shares on 14 August 2007, the allotted Ordinary Share capital increased to 267,330,058.
On 15 August 2007 a 1 for 2 share consolidation process reduced the allotted Ordinary Share capital to 133,665,029 shares of 0.2p each with
the first day of trading being the 16 August 2007.
Redemption of the Deferred C Shares on 30 June 2008 will result in a £58.0 million transfer from share capital into the Capital Redemption Reserve.
The rights of each class of share are described in the Directors’ report.
Own shares
The Trustee of the Melrose PLC EBT holds 3,000 2007 Incentive Shares (2006: 9,170 Convertible B Shares) in Melrose PLC. The EBT also holds
25,279 Ordinary Shares of 0.2p each in Melrose PLC.

9 Reserves
Capital
redemption
£m

Share
premium
£m

Merger
reserve
£m

Accumulated
profits/(losses)
£m

At 31 December 2005
Dividend paid
Profit for the period
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments

–
–
–
–

214.6
–
–
–

42.0
–
–
–

11.3
(13.5)
16.0
0.4

At 31 December 2006

–

214.6

42.0

14.2

(214.6)
–
–
–
–
–
–

(5.0)
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(13.0)
(212.6)
233.3
1.8

37.0

23.7

Reserves

Issue of C Shares
B Shares redeemed
C Shares redeemed
Dividend paid
Return of capital
Profit for the period
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments

–
0.1
154.5
–
–
–
–

At 31 December 2007

154.6

Details of share based payments are given in note 22 to the Group accounts.
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10 Hedging reserve

£m

At 31 December 2005
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives
Transfer to income

1.4
1.1
(1.4)

At 31 December 2006

1.1

Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives
Transfer to income

0.8
(1.7)

At 31 December 2007

0.2

11 Reconciliation of movements in equity Shareholders’ funds

£m

At 31 December 2005
Dividends paid
Profit for the financial year
Increase in share capital
Decrease in hedging reserve
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments

269.6
(13.5)
16.0
–
(0.3)
0.4

At 31 December 2006

272.2

Dividends paid
Return of capital
Profit for the financial year
Creation of Preference C Shares
Decrease in hedging reserve
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based payments

(13.0)
(212.6)
233.3
(7.0)
(0.9)
1.8

At 31 December 2007

273.8

12 Operating lease commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commitments for future lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which
fall due as follows:
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

2007
£m

2006
£m

0.1
–
–

0.1
0.1
–

13 Related party transactions
Transactions with key management personnel are shown in note 28 of the Group financial statements.
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Company and shareholder information

As at 31 December 2007 there were 670 holders of Ordinary Shares in the Company. Their shareholdings are analysed as follows:
Number of
shareholders

Size of shareholding

Percentage of
total number
of shareholders

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Percentage of
Ordinary Shares

1 – 5,000
5,001 – 50,000
50,001-100,000
100,001 – 500,000
Over 500,000

362
146
29
77
56

54.03
621,527
21.79
2,487,620
4.33
2,104,164
11.49 18,369,950
8.36 110,081,768

0.47
1.86
1.57
13.74
82.36

Total

670

100.0 133,665,029

100.0

Financial calendar 2008
Ex-dividend date for final dividend
Record date for final dividend
Annual General Meeting
Payment of final dividend
Announcement of half-yearly results
Intended payment of interim dividend
Preliminary announcement of 2008 results

Head office
Cleveland House
33 King Street
London SW1Y 6RJ
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7766 7670
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7766 7671
www.melroseplc.net
With effect from 30 May 2008:
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the fifth Annual General Meeting of the
Company will be held at the offices of Investec at the Diagonal Room,
2 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7QP at 11.00 a.m. on 7 May 2008
for the following purposes:
Ordinary business
1. To receive the Company’s audited financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2007, together with the
Directors’ report and the Auditors’ report on those financial
statements.
2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007.
3. To re-elect Mr Simon Peckham, who retires by rotation, as a Director
of the Company.
4. To re-elect Mr David Roper, who retires by rotation, as a Director of
the Company.
5. To re-elect Mr John Grant, who retires by rotation, as a Director of
the Company.
6. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors of the Company to
hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company at which
accounts are laid and to authorise the Directors to determine their
remuneration.

varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting) at the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company
following the passing of this resolution, save that the Company
may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would
or might require relevant securities to be allotted after expiry of this
authority and the Directors may allot relevant securities in
pursuance of that offer or agreement as if the authority conferred
by this resolution had not expired.
11. That, in substitution for all existing powers, and subject to the
passing of resolution 10, the Directors be generally empowered
pursuant to section 95 of the Act to allot equity securities (within
the meaning of section 94(2) of the Act) for cash pursuant to the
general authority conferred by resolution 10 as if section 89(1) of
the Act did not apply to the allotment, provided that the power
conferred by this resolution:
a) will expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the
Company in general meeting) at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company following the passing
of this resolution, save that the Company may before such
expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might
require equity securities to be allotted after expiry of this power
and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of
that offer or agreement as if the power conferred by this
resolution had not expired.
b) is limited to:

Special business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions which
will be proposed, in the case of resolutions 7, 9 and 10 as ordinary
resolutions and, in the case of resolutions 8, 11 and 12, as special
resolutions:
7. That the Directors’ Remuneration report contained in the
Company's report and financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2007 be approved.
8. That with effect from the conclusion of the meeting, the Company
adopt the new Articles of Association produced to the meeting
and for the purpose of identification initialled by the Chairman of
the meeting.
9. That the Company be authorised, subject to and in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (“CA 2006”), to send,
convey or supply all types of notices, documents or information to
the shareholders by means of electronic equipment for the
processing, storage and transmission of data, including by making
such notices, documents and information available on a website.
10. That, in substitution for all existing authorities the Directors be
generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with section
80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Act”) to exercise all the
powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the
meaning of that section) up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£89,110. This authority will expire (unless previously renewed,

i.

allotments of equity securities in connection with a rights
issue; and
ii. allotments of equity securities for cash otherwise than
pursuant to paragraph (i) up to an aggregate nominal value
of £13,366.
For the purposes of this resolution, “rights issue” means an offer of
equity securities, open for acceptance for a period fixed by the
Directors, to holders of Ordinary Shares made in proportion (as
nearly as may be) to their respective existing holdings of Ordinary
Shares but subject to the Directors having a right to make such
exclusions or other arrangements in connection with the offer as
they deem necessary or expedient:
a) to deal with equity securities representing fractional
entitlements; and
b) to deal with legal or practical problems arising in any overseas
territory or by virtue of shares being represented by depositary
receipts, the requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange, or any matter whatsoever.
The power conferred on the Directors by this resolution shall also
apply to a sale of Treasury shares, which is an allotment of equity
securities by virtue of section 94(3A) of the Act but with the
omission of the words “pursuant to the general authority conferred
by resolution 10”.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

12. That the Company be generally and unconditionally authorised to
make one or more market purchases (within the meaning of
section 163(3) of the Act) of Ordinary Shares of 0.2 pence each in
the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) provided that:
a) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Share authorised
to be purchased is 13,366,502 (representing 10% of the
issued Ordinary Share capital);
b) the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is
0.2 pence;
c) the maximum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is
not more than the higher of:
i.

105 per cent of the average of the middle market quotation
for an Ordinary Share as derived from the London Stock
Exchange plc’s Daily Official List for the five business days
immediately preceding the day on which the Ordinary
Share is purchased which amount shall be exclusive of
expenses; and
ii. the higher of the price of the last independent trade and
the highest current independent bid on the trading venue
where the purchase is carried out.
d) this authority will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company following the passing of this
resolution;
e) the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary
Shares under this authority before expiry of the authority which
will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of that
authority, and may make a purchase of Ordinary Shares in
pursuance of any such contract; and
f) any Ordinary Shares purchased pursuant to this authority may
either be held as Treasury shares or cancelled by the Company,
depending on which course of action is considered by the
Directors to be in the best interests of shareholders at the time.
By order of the Board
GARRY E BARNES
COMPANY SECRETARY
31 March 2008

Registered office
Precision House
Arden Road
Alcester
B49 6HN

Notes
These notes are important and require your immediate attention.
1. The holders of Ordinary Shares and 2007 Incentive Shares in the
Company are entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting, but
only holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to vote. A member
entitled to attend and vote may appoint a proxy to exercise all or
any of its rights to attend, speak and vote at a general meeting of
the Company. Such a member may appoint more than one proxy,
provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights
attached to different shares. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company.
2. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice. To be effective, a form
of proxy must be completed, signed and deposited, together with
any power of attorney or authority under which it is signed or a
certified copy of such power or authority, with the Company’s
registrars at the address specified on the form of proxy not less than
48 hours (excluding any part of a day that is not a working day)
before the time for holding the meeting. Depositing a completed
form of proxy will not preclude a member from attending the
meeting and voting in person.
3. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated
under section 146 of the CA 2006 to enjoy information rights (a
“Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him and
the shareholder by whom he was nominated, have a right to be
appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the
Annual General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy
appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he may, under
any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the
shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights.
4. Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001, to be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting (and for the purposes of the determination by the
Company of the number of votes they may cast), members must
be entered on the Company’s register of members by 6.00 pm on
5 May 2008. Changes to entries on the register of members after
this time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any
person to attend or vote at the meeting.
5. In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the
meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so that
(i) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the
meeting as its corporate representative with instructions to vote
on a poll in accordance with the directions of all of the other
corporate representatives for that shareholder at the meeting,
then on a poll those corporate representatives will give voting
directions to the Chairman and the Chairman will vote (or
withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance with
those directions; and
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(ii) if more than one corporate representative for the same
corporate shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate
shareholder has not appointed the Chairman of the meeting
as its corporate representative, a designated corporate
representative will be nominated, from those corporate
representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and the
other corporate representatives will give voting directions to
that designated corporate representative.
Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance issued by the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and
corporate representatives – www.icsa.org.uk– for further details of this
procedure. The guidance includes a sample form of representation
letter if the Chairman is being appointed as described in (i) above.
6. As at 28 March 2008 (being the last business day prior to the
publication of this Notice) the Company’s issued share capital
consists of 133,665,029 Ordinary Shares, carrying one vote each.
Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 28 March
2008 are 133,665,029.
7. Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection
at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours
(Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) from the date
of this notice until the date of the Annual General Meeting and at
the place of the Annual General Meeting for 15 minutes prior to
and during the meeting:
a) the register of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company;
b) copies of all service agreements under which directors of the
Company are employed by the Company or any subsidiaries;
c) a copy of the terms of appointment of the non-executive
Directors of the Company; and
d) a copy of the proposed new Articles of Association to be
adopted pursuant to resolution 8.

Explanatory notes on principal changes to the Company’s
Articles of Association
1. Articles which duplicate statutory provisions
Provisions in the current Articles which replicate provisions contained
in CA 2006 are in the main amended to bring them into line with it.
Certain examples of such provisions include provisions as to the form
of resolutions, the variation of class rights and provisions regarding the
period of notice required to convene general meetings. The main
changes made to reflect this approach are detailed below.
2. Form of resolution
The current Articles contain a provision that, where for any purpose an
ordinary resolution is required, a special or extraordinary resolution is
also effective and that, where an extraordinary resolution is required, a
special resolution is also effective. This provision is being amended as
the concept of extraordinary resolutions has not been retained under
CA 2006.
Article 72 of the current Articles enables members to act by written
resolution. Under CA 2006 public companies can no longer pass
written resolutions. This provision has therefore been removed in the
proposed new Articles.
3. Variation of class rights
The current Articles contain, in Article 73, provisions regarding the
variation of class rights. The proceedings and specific quorum
requirements for a meeting convened to vary class rights are contained
in CA 2006. The relevant provisions have therefore been amended in
the proposed new Articles.
4. Convening general meetings
Article 48 in the current Articles, which deals with the convening of
general meetings and the length of notice required to convene general
meetings, is being amended to conform to new provisions in CA
2006. In particular a general meeting (other than an annual general
meeting) to consider a special resolution can be convened on 14
days’ notice whereas previously 21 days’ notice was required.
5. Votes of members
Under the CA 2006 proxies are entitled to vote on a show of hands
whereas under the current Articles proxies are only entitled to vote on
a poll. Multiple proxies may be appointed provided that each proxy is
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share held by
the shareholder. Multiple corporate representatives may be appointed
in accordance with CA 2006. The proposed new Articles reflect all of
these new provisions.
6. Age of directors on appointment
Article 85 of the current Articles require a director's age to be disclosed
if he has attained the age of 70 years or more in the notice convening
a meeting at which the Director is proposed to be elected or re-elected.
This provision has been amended in the proposed new Articles
following the implementation of the Employment Equality (Age)
Regulations 2006.
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7. Electronic and web communications
Provisions of CA 2006 enable companies to communicate with
members by electronic and/or website communications. The
proposed new Articles continue to allow communications to members
in electronic form and, in addition, permit the Company to take
advantage of the new provisions relating to website communications.

It is also proposed that the new Articles should contain provisions
relating to confidential information, attendance at Board meetings and
availability of Board papers to protect a Director being in breach of
duty if a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest arises. These
provisions will only apply where the position giving rise to the potential
conflict has previously been authorised by the Directors.

Before the Company can communicate with a member by means of
website communication, the relevant member must be asked
individually by the Company to agree that the Company may send or
supply documents or information to him by means of a website, and
the Company must either have received a positive response, or, as
provided by CA 2006, if no response is received within the period of
28 days beginning with the date on which the request was sent, may
deem receipt of a positive response. The Company will notify the
member (either in writing, or by other permitted means) when a
relevant document or information is placed on the website. If required,
a member can request a hard copy version at any time.

The relevant new provisions are expressed to take effect from the date
on which the relevant CA 2006 provisions come into force. Until that
date, the existing provisions on conflicts of interests will remain
effective.

8. Conflicts of interest
CA 2006 sets out directors’ general duties which largely codify the
existing law but with some changes. Under CA 2006, from 1 October
2008 a Director must avoid a situation where he has, or can have, a
direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict with the
Company’s interests. The requirement is very broad and could apply,
for example, if a director becomes a director of another company or a
trustee of another organisation. CA 2006 allows directors of public
companies to authorise conflicts and potential conflicts, where
appropriate, where the Articles of Association contain a provision to
this effect. CA 2006 also allows the Articles of Association to contain
other provisions for dealing with directors’ conflicts of interest to avoid
a breach of duty. The proposed new Articles give the Directors
authority to approve such situations and to include other provisions to
allow conflicts of interest to be dealt with in a similar way to the
current position.
There are safeguards which will apply when Directors decide whether
to authorise a conflict or potential conflict. Firstly, only Directors who
have no interest in the matter being considered will be able to take the
relevant decision, and secondly, in taking the decision the Directors
must act in a way they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to
promote the Company’s success. The Directors will be able to impose
limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they think this is
appropriate.
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It is the Board’s intention to report annually on the Company’s
procedures for ensuring that the Board’s powers to authorise conflicts
are operated effectively.
9. Directors’ indemnities and loans to fund expenditure
CA 2006 has widened the scope of the powers of a company to
indemnify directors. In particular, a company that is a trustee of an
occupational pension scheme can now indemnify a director against
liability incurred in connection with that company’s activities as a
trustee of that scheme. A company may also grant indemnities to
directors of associated companies. In addition, the existing exemption
allowing a company to provide money for the purpose of funding a
director's defence in court proceedings now expressly covers
regulatory proceedings and applies to associated companies.
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